EFRAG staff

BEFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group =

IFRS for SMEs and the Fourth and Seventh Council Directives
Compatibility Issues

EFRAG WORKING PAPER

IFRS for SMEs Council Directives Assessment

Not incompatible

Not assessed

Incompatible

1.1 The IFRS for SMEs is intended for use by small and No relevant articles The paragraph states for what entities
medium-sized entities (SMESs). IFRS for SMEs are intended. The
This section describes the characteristics of SMEs. content of the paragraph cannot be

incompatible with the Council Directives.

1.2 Small and medium-sized entities are entities that: No relevant articles The paragraph defines what is
(a) do not have public accountability, and considered to be small and medium-sized
(b) publish general purpose financial statements entities according to IFRS for SMEs. The
for external users. Examples of external users include paragraph is relevant in relation to
owners who are not involved in managing the paragraph 1.1 and is thus not
business, existing and potential creditors, and credit incompatible with the Council Directives
rating agencies.

1.3 An entity has public accountability if: No relevant articles The paragraph is relevant for paragraph
(a) its debt or equity instruments are traded in a public 1.2, and is thus not incompatible with the
market or it is in the process of issuing such Council Directives.
instruments for trading in a public market (a domestic
or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter
market, including local and regional markets), or




(b) it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad
group of outsiders as one of its primary businesses.
This is typically the case for banks, credit unions,
insurance companies, securities brokers/dealers,
mutual funds and investment banks.

1.4 Some entities may also hold assets in a fiduciary No relevant articles The paragraph is relevant for paragraph
capacity for a broad group of outsiders because they 1.3 and is thus not incompatible with the
hold and manage financial resources entrusted to Council Directives.
them by clients, customers or members not involved
in the management of the entity. However, if they do
so for reasons incidental to a primary business (as,
for example, may be the case for travel or real estate
agents, schools, charitable organisations, co-
operative enterprises requiring a nominal membership
deposit, and sellers that receive payment in advance
of delivery of the goods or services such as utility
companies), that does not make them publicly
accountable.

15 If a publicly accountable entity uses this IFRS, its The Council Directives do not describe what | As the Council Directives do not describe
financial statements shall not be described as could be stated as conforming to IFRS for what could be stated as conforming to
conforming to the IFRS for SMEs—even if law or SMEs IFRS for SMEs, the paragraph is not
regulation in its jurisdiction permits or requires this incompatible with the Council Directives.
IFRS to be used by publicly accountable entities.

1.6 A subsidiary whose parent uses full IFRSs, or that is The Council Directives do not describe what | As the Council Directives do not describe
part of a consolidated group that uses full IFRSs, is could be stated as conforming to IFRS for what could be stated as conforming to
not prohibited from using this IFRS in its own financial | SMEs IFRS for SMEs, the paragraph is not
statements if that subsidiary by itself does not have incompatible with the Council Directives.
public accountability. If its financial statements are
described as conforming to the IFRS for SMEs, it
must comply with all of the provisions of this IFRS.

Concepts and Pervasive Principles

2.1 This section describes the objective of financial As par. 2.1 just explains the content of
statements of small and medium-sized entities section 2, it is not incompatible with the
(SMEs) and the qualities that make the information in Council Directives.
the financial statements of SMEs useful. It also sets
out the concepts and basic principles underlying the
financial statements of SMEs.

2.2 The objective of financial statements of a small or The Council Directives do not include any The Directives do not include a statement

medium-sized entity is to provide information about
the financial position, performance and cash flows of

the entity that is useful for economic decision-making

objective of the financial statements

regarding the purpose of the financial
statements. However, it does not seem to
preclude the purpose of 2.2. as long as it




by a broad range of users who are not in a position to
demand reports tailored to meet their particular
information needs.

is not an overriding principle and the
requirements that flow from this is in
accordance with the Directives.
Accordingly, par. 2.2 is not assessed to
be incompatible with the Council
Directives.

2.3 Financial statements also show the results of the The Directives do not include a statement
stewardship of management—the accountability of regarding the purpose of the financial
management for the resources entrusted to it. statements. However, it does not seem to

preclude the purpose of 2.2. as long as it
is not an overriding principle and the
requirements that flows from this is in
accordance with the Directives.
Accordingly, par. 2.2 is not assessed to
be incompatible with the Council
Directives.

2.4 Understandability 4. art. 2 Understandability is not mentioned
The information provided in financial statements explicitly in the Council Directives.
should be presented in a way that makes it 2. They shall be drawn up clearly and in However, it is assessed that it could be
comprehensible by users who have a reasonable accordance with the provisions of this part of a ‘true and fair view’. Accordingly,
knowledge of business and economic activities and Directive. par. 2.4 is not assessed to be
accounting and a willingness to study the information | 3. The annual accounts shall give a true and | incompatible with the Council Directives.
with reasonable diligence. However, the need for fair view of the company's assets, liabilities,

understandability does not allow relevant information | financial position and profit or loss.

to be omitted on the grounds that it may be too

difficult for some users to understand. 7.art. 16.3
Consolidated accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the undertakings
included therein taken as a whole.

2.5 Relevance 4. art. 2.3 Relevance is not mentioned explicitly in

The information provided in financial statements must
be relevant to the decision-making needs of users.
Information has the quality of relevance when it is
capable of influencing the economic decisions of
users by helping them evaluate past, present or future
events or confirming, or correcting, their past
evaluations.

The annual accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the company's assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss.

7.art. 16.3
Consolidated accounts shall give a true and

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the undertakings

the Council Directives. However, it is
assessed that it could be part of a ‘true
and fair view’. Accordingly, par. 2.5 is not
assessed to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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included therein taken as a whole.

2.6 Materiality The Council Directives state that some It could be argued that only when the
Information is material—and therefore has specific requirements can be omitted if the Council Directives specifically state that
relevance—if its omission or misstatement could amounts are immaterial. However, there is specific requirements can be omitted if
influence the economic decisions of users made on no general materiality principle. the amounts are immaterial, that
the basis of the financial statements. Materiality information can be omitted if the amounts
depends on the size of the item or error judged in the are immaterial. However, it could also be
particular circumstances of its omission or argued that ‘Materiality’ could be said to
misstatement. However, it is inappropriate to make, or be included in the ‘true and fair view’.
leave uncorrected, immaterial departures from the Accordingly, although the Council
IFRS for SMEs to achieve a particular presentation of Directives do not specifically exempt from
an entity’s financial position, financial performance or requirements if the amounts are
cash flows. immaterial, the Council Directives could

be interpreted as if an entity is not
required to — but allowed to — omit
information that is not material.
Accordingly, it has been assessed that
par. 2.6 cannot be said to be incompatible
with the Council Directives.

2.7 Reliability 4, art. 2.3 Although ‘true and fair’ could/should
The information provided in financial statements must include more than ‘reliability’, ‘reliability’
be reliable. Information is reliable when it is free from | The annual accounts shall give a true and seems to be a valid interpretation of part
material error and bias and represents faithfully fair view of the company's assets, liabilities, of ‘true and fair’. Accordingly, it has been
that which it either purports to represent or could financial position and profit or loss. assessed that par. 2.7 is not incompatible
reasonably be expected to represent. Financial with the Council Directives.
statements are not free from bias (ie not neutral) if, by | 7. art. 16.3
the selection or presentation of information, they are
intended to influence the making of a decision or Consolidated accounts shall give a true and
judgement in order to achieve a predetermined result | fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
or outcome. position and profit or loss of the undertakings

included therein taken as a whole.
2.8 Substance over form 4. art. 4.6 The requirement of substance over form

Transactions and other events and conditions should
be accounted for and presented in accordance with
their substance and not merely their legal form.

This enhances the reliability of financial statements.

Member States may permit or require the
presentation of amounts within items in the
profit and loss account and balance sheet to
have regard to the substance of the reported
transaction or arrangement. Such
permission or requirement may be restricted
to certain classes of company and/or to
consolidated accounts as defined in the
Seventh Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13

is assessed to be compatible with the
Fourth Council Directive art. 4.6.
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June 1983 on consolidated accounts.
4. art. 2.3

The annual accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the company's assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss.

7. art. 16.3

Consolidated accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the undertakings
included therein taken as a whole.

2.9 Prudence 4. art. 31.1(c) It is noted that the Commission in 2003
The uncertainties that inevitably surround many valuation must be made on a prudent basis, | amended the Council Directives in
events and circumstances are acknowledged by the and in particular: relation to provisions. Art. 20.2 that was
disclosure of their nature and extent and by the (aa) only profits made at the balance sheet previously required became a Member
exercise of prudence in the preparation of the date may be included, State option in order to a line the Council
financial statements. Prudence is the inclusion of a (bb) account must be taken of all liabilities Directives and IAS.
degree of caution in the exercise of the judgements arising in the course of the financial year
needed in making the estimates required under concerned or of a previous one, even if such | Itis assessed that ‘prudence’ in the
conditions of uncertainty, such that assets or income liabilities become apparent only between the | Council Directives can be interpreted
are not overstated and liabilities or expenses are not date of the balance sheet and the date on differently. Some would interpret
understated. However, the exercise of prudence does | which it is drawn up, ‘prudence in the Council Directives to be
not allow the deliberate understatement of assets or (cc) account must be taken of all more conservative than in IFRS for
income, or the deliberate overstatement of liabilities or | depreciation, whether the result of the SMEs. Others would interpret it
expenses. In short, prudence does not permit bias. financial year is a loss or a profit; differently.

Accordingly, it has been assessed that
‘Prudence’ in the Council Directives can
be interpreted differently. However, the
definition of IFRS for SMEs cannot be
said to be incompatible with the Council
Directives.

2.10 | Completeness 4. art. 2.3 Completeness is not explicitly required by

To be reliable, the information in financial statements
must be complete within the bounds of materiality and
cost. An omission can cause information to be false or
misleading and thus unreliable and deficient in terms
of its relevance.

The annual accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the company's assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss.

the Council Directives, however, it could
be interpreted as being included in the
‘true and fair view'.

It has been assessed whether it would be




7. art. 16.3

Consolidated accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the undertakings
included therein taken as a whole.

incompatible with the Council Directives
to consider completeness within the
bounds of cost. It was noted that the
requirements of section 2 of IFRS for
SMEs should be taken into consideration
when IFRS for SMEs does not specifically
address a transaction, other event or
condition and to assess when the
requirements of IFRS for SMEs would not
result in a fair presentation. Accordingly,
it was assessed that an entity could not
generally avoid presenting information by
reference to cost it would incur in doing
so. Therefore, it was assessed that the
requirements of par. 2.10 — when
assessed in the context — would not be
incompatible with the Council Directives.

2.11

Comparability

Users must be able to compare the financial
statements of an entity through time to identify trends
in its financial position and performance. Users must
also be able to compare the financial statements of
different entities to evaluate their relative financial
position, performance and cash flows. Hence, the
measurement and display of the financial effects of
like transactions and other events and conditions
must be carried out in a consistent way throughout an
entity and over time for that entity, and in a consistent
way across entities. In addition, users must be
informed of the accounting policies employed in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of any
changes in those policies and the effects of such
changes.

4. art. 3

The layout of the balance sheet and of the
profit and loss account, particularly as
regards the form adopted for their
presentation, may not be changed from one
financial year to the next.

4. art 31.1(b)

the methods of valuation must be applied
consistently from one financial year to
another;

Art. 43

In addition to the information required under

other provisions of this Directive, the notes

on the accounts must set out information in
respect of the following matters at least:

(1) the valuation methods applied to the
various items in the annual accounts, and
the methods employed in calculating the
value adjustments. For items included in
the annual accounts which are or were
originally expressed in foreign currency,
the bases of conversion used to express

Both IFRS for SMEs and the Council
Directives require that the financial
statements are comparable over time. In
addition par. 2.11 requires financial
statements to be comparable between
entities. This is the purpose of the
Council Directives, and is accordingly not
assessed to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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them in local currency must be disclosed;

2.12 | Timeliness No explicit requirements regarding Timeliness is not explicit mentioned in the
To be relevant, financial information must be able to timeliness and reliable information in Council Directives. The Member States
influence the economic decisions of users. Timeliness | Directives. determine the deadlines for preparing
involves providing the information within the decision financial statements. Accordingly, the
time frame. If there is undue delay in the reporting of requirement is assessed not to be
information it may lose its relevance. Management incompatible with the Council Directives.
may need to balance the relative merits of timely
reporting and the provision of reliable information. In
achieving a balance between relevance and reliability,
the overriding consideration is how best to satisfy the
needs of users in making economic decisions.

2.13 | Balance between benefit and cost Not addressed in the Council Directives The issue whether it would be
The benefits derived from information should exceed incompatible with the Council Directives
the cost of providing it. The evaluation of benefits and to take cost into consideration is
costs is substantially a judgemental process. discussed in relation to par. 2.10. For the
Furthermore, the costs are not necessarily borne by same reasons as stated in relation to
those users who enjoy the benefits, and often the par. 2.10, it is assessed that par. 2.13 is
benefits of the information are enjoyed by a broad not incompatible with the Council
range of external users. Directives.

2.14 | Financial reporting information helps capital providers | Not addressed in the Council Directives Par. 2.14 just explains types of benefits.
make better decisions, which results in more efficient It is assessed that this explanation cannot
functioning of capital markets and a lower cost of be incompatible with the Council
capital for the economy as a whole. Individual entities Directives.
also enjoy benefits, including improved access to
capital markets, favourable effect on public relations,
and perhaps lower costs of capital. The benefits may
also include better management decisions because
financial information used internally is often based at
least partly on information prepared for general
purpose financial reporting purposes.

2.15 | The financial position of an entity is the relationship of | No definitions in the Directives See par. 2.45

its assets, liabilities and equity as of a specific date as

presented in the statement of financial position.

These are defined as follows:

(a) An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a
result of past events and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the
entity.

(b) A liability is a present obligation of the entity
arising from past events, the settlement of which is
expected to result in an outflow from the entity of




resources embodying economic benefits.
(c) Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the
entity after deducting all its liabilities.

2.16 | Some items that meet the definition of an asset or a No such requirement in the Directives In relation to liabilities see par. 2.39
liability may not be recognised as assets or liabilities
in the statement of financial position because they do
not satisfy the criteria for recognition in paragraphs
2.27-2.32. In particular, the expectation that future
economic benefits will flow to or from an entity must
be sufficiently certain to meet the probability criterion
before an asset or liability is recognised.

2.17 | The future economic benefit of an asset is its potential | The Council Directives do not explain what The explanation in par. 2.17 seems
to contribute, directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash assets are. compatible with the Council Directives
and cash equivalents to the entity. Those cash flows
may come from using the asset or from disposing of
it.

2.18 | Many assets, for example property, plant and The Council Directives do not explain what The Council Directives do not explain
equipment, have a physical form. However, physical assets are. what assets are. However, it appears
form is not essential to the existence of an asset. from the Council Directives that some
Some assets are intangible. assets are also according to the Council

Directives regarded as intangible (see for
example the Fourth Council Directive art.
9). ltis therefore assessed that par. 2.18
is not incompatible with the Council
Directives.

2.19 | In determining the existence of an asset, the right of The Council Directives do not include The Council Directives do not explain
ownership is not essential. Thus, for example, requirements that assets should be owned what assets are. It is therefore assessed
property held on a lease is an asset if the entity by an entity that par. 2.19 is not incompatible with the
controls the benefits that are expected to flow from Council Directives.
the property.

2.20 | An essential characteristic of a liability is that the The Council Directives do not include an The Council Directives do not explain

entity has a present obligation to act or perform in a
particular way. The obligation may be either a legal
obligation or a constructive obligation. A legal
obligation is legally enforceable as a consequence of
a binding contract or statutory requirement. A
constructive obligation is an obligation that derives
from an entity’s actions when:

(a) by an established pattern of past practice,
published policies or a sufficiently specific current
statement, the entity has indicated to other parties
that it will accept particular responsibilities, and

explanation of essential characteristics of a
liability

essential characteristics of a liability. It is
therefore assessed that par. 2.19 is not
incompatible with the Council Directives.




(b) as a result, the entity has created a valid
expectation on the part of those other parties that it
will discharge those responsibilities.

2.21 | The settlement of a present obligation usually The Council Directives do not include an It is assess that par. 2.21 is not
involves the payment of cash, transfer of other assets, | explanation about settlement of an obligation | incompatible with the Council Directives.
provision of services, the replacement of that
obligation with another obligation, or conversion of the
obligation to equity. An obligation may also be
extinguished by other means, such as a creditor
waiving or forfeiting its rights.

2.22 | Equity is the residual of recognised assets minus The Council Directives do not include an The Council Directives do not state how
recognised liabilities. It may be subclassified in the explanation about how to calculate equity. to calculate equity. On this issue par.
statement of financial position. For example, in a 2.22 is assessed not to be incompatible
corporate entity, subclassifications may include funds | The Council Directives includes with the Council Directives.
contributed by shareholders, retained earnings and requirements regarding subclassifications of
gains or losses recognised directly in equity. equity. The subclassification example listed in

par. 2.22 is — as stated - only an example
and it is therefore assessed that this part
of par. 2.22 is also not incompatible with
the Council Directives.

2.23 | Performance is the relationship of the income and 4. art. 22 The Fourth Council Directive requires that
expenses of an entity during a reporting period. This entities present a profit and loss account
IFRS permits entities to present performance in a For the presentation of the profit and loss or a statement of their performance
single financial statement (a statement of account, the Member States shall prescribe | (statement of comprehensive income).
comprehensive income) or in two financial one or more of the layouts provided for in
statements (an income statement and a statement of | Articles 23 to 26. If a Member State The Council Directives do not include
comprehensive income). Total comprehensive income | prescribes more than one layout, it may definitions of income and expenses. The
and profit or loss are frequently used as measures of | allow companies to choose from among explanations included in par. 2.23 are not
performance or as the basis for other measures, such | them. by themselves assessed to be
as return on investment or earnings per share. incompatible with the Council Directives.
Income and expenses are defined as follows: By way of derogation from Article 2(1),
(a) Income is increases in economic benefits during Member States may permit or require all
the reporting period in the form of inflows or companies, or any classes of company, to
enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities present a statement of their performance
that result in increases in equity, other than those instead of the presentation of profit and loss
relating to contributions from equity investors. items in accordance with Articles 23 to 26,
(b) Expenses are decreases in economic benefits provided that the information given is at least
during the reporting period in the form of outflows or equivalent to that otherwise required by
depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that those Articles.
result in decreases in equity, other than those relating
to distributions to equity investors.

2.24 | The recognition of income and expenses results The Council Directives do not include any It is assessed that the explanation in par.
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directly from the recognition and measurement of
assets and liabilities. Criteria for the recognition of
income and expenses are discussed in paragraphs
2.27-2.32.

requirements related to whether income and
expenses results from the recognition and
measurement of assets and liabilities or vice
versa.

2.24 by itself would not be incompatible
with the Council Directives

2.25

The definition of income encompasses both revenue
and gains.

(a) Revenue is income that arises in the course of the
ordinary activities of an entity and is referred to by a
variety of names including sales, fees, interest,
dividends, royalties and rent.

(b) Gains are other items that meet the definition of
income but are not revenue. When gains are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income, they are usually displayed separately
because knowledge of them is useful for making
economic decisions.

4. art. 28

The net turnover shall comprise the amounts
derived from the sale of products and the
provision of services falling within the
company's ordinary activities, after deduction
of sales rebates and of value added tax and
other taxes directly linked to the turnover.

The Council Directives do not define
revenue and gains. Turnover is defined,
however, this term is considered to be
more narrowly defined than revenue. The
definitions of revenue and gains are not
by themselves incompatible with the
Council Directives.

2.26

The definition of expenses encompasses losses as
well as those expenses that arise in the course of the
ordinary activities of the entity.

(a) Expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary
activities of the entity include, for example, cost of
sales, wages and depreciation. They usually take the
form of an outflow or depletion of assets such as cash
and cash equivalents, inventory, or property, plant
and equipment.

(b) Losses are other items that meet the definition of
expenses and may arise in the course of the ordinary
activities of the entity. When losses are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income, they are
usually presented separately because knowledge of
them is useful for making economic decisions.

The Council Directives do not include
definitions of expenses and losses

The definitions of expenses and losses
are not by themselves incompatible with
the Council Directives.

2.27

Recognition is the process of incorporating in the
financial statements an item that meets the definition
of an asset, liability, income or expense and satisfies
the following criteria:

(a) it is probable that any future economic benefit
associated with the item will flow to or from the entity,
and

(b) the item has a cost or value that can be measured
reliably.

The Council Directives do not include any
recognition criteria

Criterion (a) is discusses in relation to
par. 21.4.
Criterion (b) is discussed in relation to
par. 2.39.

2.28

The failure to recognise an item that satisfies those
criteria is not rectified by disclosure of the accounting

The Council Directives do not include a
specific statement like the one in par. 2.28.

It is assessed not to be incompatible with
the Council Directives to require that
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policies used or by notes or explanatory material.

items that are required to be recognised
cannot just be disclosed.

2.29 | The concept of probability is used in the first The Council Directives do not include an It is assessed that par. 2.29, explaining
recognition criterion to refer to the degree of explanation about how to assess uncertainty | ‘probable’ in par. 2.27 is not incompatible
uncertainty that the future economic benefits related to different items. with the Council Directives.
associated with the item will flow to or from the entity.

Assessments of the degree of uncertainty attaching
to the flow of future economic benefits are made on
the basis of the evidence relating to conditions at the
end of the reporting period available when the
financial statements are prepared. Those
assessments are made individually for individually
significant items, and for a group for a large
population of individually insignificant items.

2.30 | The second criterion for the recognition of an item is The Council Directives do not include any The issue related to ‘reliable’ is discussed
that it possesses a cost or value that can be explanation about reliability in relation to par. 2.39
measured with reliability. In many cases, the cost or
value of an item is known. In other cases it must be
estimated. The use of reasonable estimates is an
essential part of the preparation of financial
statements and does not undermine their reliability.

When a reasonable estimate cannot be made, the
item is not recognised in the financial statements.

2.31 | Anitem that fails to meet the recognition criteria may | The Council Directives do not include any As the Council Directives do not include
qualify for recognition at a later date as a result of recognition criteria any general recognition criteria, par. 2.31
subsequent circumstances or events. is assessed not to be incompatible with

the Council Directives

2.32 | An item that fails to meet the criteria for recognition It is generally assed that disclosure
may nonetheless warrant disclosure in the notes or requirements included in IFRS for SMEs
explanatory material or in supplementary schedules. cannot be incompatible with the Council
This is appropriate when knowledge of the item is Directives as the Council Directives do
relevant to the evaluation of the financial position, not prohibit additional information to be
performance and changes in financial position of an disclosed in the notes.
entity by the users of financial statements

2.33 | Measurement is the process of determining the The Council Directives do not explain The explanation in par. 2.33 of
monetary amounts at which an entity measures ‘measurement’ measurement is not incompatible with the
assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its financial Council Directives. The Council Directives
statements. Measurement involves the selection of a do neither explain this term nor use it.
basis of measurement. This IFRS specifies which
measurement basis an entity shall use for many types
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

2.34 | Two common measurement bases are historical cost | 4. art. 35 The Council Directives to not include an
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and fair value:

(a) For assets, historical cost is the amount of cash or
cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the
consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of
its acquisition. For liabilities, historical cost is the
amount of proceeds of cash or cash equivalents
received or the fair value of non-cash assets

received in exchange for the obligation at the time the
obligation is incurred, or in some circumstances (for
example, income tax) the amounts of cash or cash
equivalents expected to be paid to settle the liability in
the normal course of business. Amortised historical
cost is the historical cost of an asset or liability plus or
minus that portion of its historical cost previously
recognised as expense or income.

(b) Fair value is the amount for which an asset could
be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.

2. The purchase price shall be calculated by
adding to the price paid the expenses
incidental thereto.

3. (a) The production cost shall be calculated
by adding to the purchasing price of the raw
materials and consumables the costs directly
attributable to the product in question.

(b) A reasonable proportion of the costs
which are only indirectly attributable to the
product in question may be added into the
production costs to the extent that they
relate to the period of production.

4. Interest on capital borrowed to finance the
production of fixed assets may be included
in the production costs to the extent that it
relates to the period of production. In that
event, the inclusion of such interest under
‘Assets’ must be disclosed in the notes on
the accounts.

4, art. 42b

1. The fair value referred to in Article 42a
shall be determined by reference to:

(a) a market value, for those financial
instruments for which a reliable market can
readily be identified. Where a market value
is not readily identifiable for an instrument
but can be identified for its components or
for a similar instrument, the market value
may be derived from that of its components
or of the similar instrument; or

(b) a value resulting from generally accepted
valuation models and techniques, for those
instruments for which a reliable market
cannot be readily identified. Such valuation
models and techniques shall ensure a
reasonable approximation of the market
value.

2. Those financial instruments that cannot be

overall definition of historical cost and fair
value. In relation to some assets and
liabilities it is stated how the cost or fair
value shall be calculated. It is assessed
whether or not IFRS for SMEs is
compatible with the Council Directives in
these cases. The general explanation of
historical cost and fair value in par. 2.34
is not by itself regarded as incompatible
with the Council Directives.
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measured reliably by any of the methods
described in paragraph 1, shall be measured
in accordance with Articles 34 to 42.

2.35 | The requirements for recognising and measuring 4. art. 2.3 The Council Directives do not include
assets, liabilities, income and expenses in this IFRS specific guidance on what to do in
are based on pervasive principles that are derived The annual accounts shall give a true and absence of a requirement that applies
from the IASB Framework for the Preparation and fair view of the company's assets, liabilities, specifically to a transaction or other event
Presentation of Financial Statements and from financial position and profit or loss. or condition. The compatibility of
full IFRSs. In the absence of a requirement in this paragraph 10.4 and 10.5 are assessed
IFRS that applies specifically to a transaction or other | 7. art. 16.3 below.
event or condition, paragraph 10.4 provides guidance
for making a judgement and paragraph 10.5 Consolidated accounts shall give a true and | As mentioned above it is generally
establishes a hierarchy for an entity to follow in fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial assessed that the pervasive principles set
deciding on the appropriate accounting policy in the position and profit or loss of the undertakings | out in IFRS for SMESs represent valid
circumstances. The second level of that hierarchy included therein taken as a whole. interpretations of ‘true and fair’. Also the
requires an entity to look to the definitions, recognition concepts of assets and liabilities, income
criteria and measurement concepts for assets, and expenses were assessed not to be
liabilities, income and expenses and the pervasive incompatible with the Council Directives.
principles set out in this section. Accordingly, it is assessed that the

method described in the second level of
the hierarchy mentioned in paragraph
2.35 would not be incompatible with the
Council Directives.

2.36 | An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except | 4. art. 31.1 (d) The Council Directives do not include
for cash flow information, using the accrual basis of requirements regarding cash flow
accounting. On the accrual basis, items are account must be taken of income and statements. Use of the accrual basis in
recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or charges relating to the financial year, the remaining part of the financial
expenses when they satisfy the definitions and irrespective of the date of receipt or payment | statements is in accordance with the
recognition criteria for those items. of such income or charges; Council Directives.

2.37 | An entity shall recognise an asset in the statement of | The Council Directives do not include The Council Directives do not include
financial position when it is probable that the future recognition requirements. general recognition criteria. It has
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the asset therefore been assessed that par 2.37 is
has a cost or value that can be measured reliably. An not incompatible with the Directives.
asset is not recognised in the statement of financial
position when expenditure has been incurred for
which it is considered not probable that economic
benefits will flow to the entity beyond the current
reporting period. Instead such a transaction results in
the recognition of an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income (or in the income statement, if
presented).

2.38 | An entity shall not recognise a contingent asset as an | The Council Directives do not include As the Council Directives do not include
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asset. However, when the flow of future economic
benefits to the entity is virtually certain, then the
related asset is not a contingent asset, and its
recognition is appropriate.

requirements regarding contingent assets

requirements regarding contingent
assets, it is assessed that par. 2.38 is not
incompatible with the Council Directives.

2.39 | An entity shall recognise a liability in the statement of | The Council Directives do not include It is assessed that the Council Directives
financial position when recognition requirements. do not include recognition criteria. Article
(a) the entity has an obligation at the end of the 20 of the Fourth Council Directive only
reporting period as a result of a past event, 4, art. 20 explains what provisions are, but not
(b) it is probable that the entity will be required to when they should be recognised.
transfer resources embodying economic benefits in 1. Provisions are intended to cover liabilities
settlement, and the nature of which is clearly defined and It is therefore assessed that :

(c) the settlement amount can be measured reliably. which at the date of the balance sheet are

either likely to be incurred, or certain to be Criteria (a) is not incompatible with the

incurred but uncertain as to amount or as to | Council Directives. Article 20.2 of the

the date on which they will arise. Fourth Council Directive (to recognise
liabilities that may not be obligations as of

2. The Member States may also authorize the balance sheet date)is only an option.

the creation of provisions intended to cover

charges which have their origin in the Criteria (b) is not incompatible with the

financial year under review or in a previous Council Directives, even when ‘likely’ in

financial year, the nature of which is art. 20.1 of the Fourth Council Directive is

clearly defined and which at the date of the interpreted as a lower probability than

balance sheet are either likely to be incurred, | ‘probable’ in par. 2.39 (b), as art. 20.1

or certain to be incurred but uncertain as to only defines provisions and not state

amount or as to the date on which they will when they should be recognised.

arise.
In relation to criteria (c ) it is assessed

3. Provisions may not be used to adjust the that in order for the financial statements

values of assets. to be able to present a true and fair view
it would also be required by the Council
Directives that the settlement amount can
be measured reliably in order to be able
to recognise a liability.

2.40 | A contingent liability is either a possible but uncertain | The Council Directives do not include a It is assessed that the Council Directives

obligation or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it fails to meet one or both of the
conditions (b) and (c) in paragraph 2.39. An entity
shall not recognise a contingent liability as a liability,
except for contingent liabilities of an acquiree in a
business combination (see Section 19 Business
Combinations and Goodwill).

definition of contingent liabilities.

do not include recognition criteria and
par. 2.40 accordingly assessed not to be
incompatible with the Council Directives.

See par. 19.4 in relation to contingent
liabilities of an acquirer in a business
combination.
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2.41 | The recognition of income results directly from the Article 31.1 ( c) (aa) See par 2.9
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities.
An entity shall recognise income in the statement of only profits made at the balance sheet date
comprehensive income (or in the income statement, if | may be included,
presented) when an increase in future economic
benefits related to an increase in an asset or a
decrease of a liability has arisen that can be
measured reliably.

2.42 | The recognition of expenses results directly from the No requirements included in the Council It is assessed that the Council Directives
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities. | Directives do not specify whether income and
An entity shall recognise expenses in the statement of expenses results from recognition and
comprehensive income (or in the income statement, if measurement of assets and liabilities or
presented) when a decrease in future economic vice versa. Accordingly, it is assessed
benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an that par. 2.42 is not incompatible with the
increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured Council Directives.
reliably.

2.43 | Total comprehensive income is the arithmetical The Council Directives do not include As the Council Directives do not include
difference between income and expenses. It is not a recognition principles for total recognition principles for total
separate element of financial statements, and a comprehensive income. comprehensive income, it is assessed
separate recognition principle is not needed for it. that par. 2.43 is not incompatible with the

Council Directives.

2.44 | Profit or loss is the arithmetical difference between The Council Directives do not include It is assessed that profit or loss also
income and expenses other than those items of recognition principles for profit or loss. under the Council Directives are
income and expense that this IFRS classifies as items calculated as stated in par. 2.44.
of other comprehensive income. It is not a separate Accordingly, it is assessed that par. 2.44
element of financial statements, and a separate is compatible with the Council Directives.
recognition principle is not needed for it.

2.45 | This IFRS does not allow the recognition of items in The Council Directives do not include As the Council Directives do not include

the statement of financial position that do not meet
the definition of assets or of liabilities regardless of
whether they result from applying the notion
commonly referred to as the ‘matching concept’ for
measuring profit or loss.

definitions of assets and liabilities.

definitions of assets and liabilities. It has
therefore been assessed whether the
definitions would prohibit assets and
liabilities, required to be recognised under
the Council Directives, from being
recognised and vice verse.

It has been assessed that the Council
Directives allows some items that do not
meet the definitions in par. 2.45 to be
recognised. However, they do not
prohibit that only those items that meet
the definition are recognised.
Accordingly, it has been assessed that
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par. 2.45 is not incompatible with the
Council Directives.

2.46

At initial recognition, an entity shall measure assets
and liabilities at historical cost unless this IFRS
requires initial measurement on another basis such as
fair value.

4, art. 32

The items shown in the annual accounts
shall be valued in accordance with Articles
34 to 42, which are based on the principle of
purchase price or production cost.

The basic principle of measuring assets
and liabilities at historical cost at initial
recognition is in accordance with the
Council Directives. Departures from this
basic principle are assessed in relation to
the relevant paragraphs.

2.47

An entity measures basic financial assets and basic
financial liabilities, as defined in Section 11 Basic
Financial Instruments, at amortised cost less
impairment except for investments in non-convertible
and non-puttable preference shares and non-puttable
ordinary shares that are publicly traded or whose fair
value can otherwise be measured reliably, which are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

See section 11

See section 11

2.48

An entity generally measures all other financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value, with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss, unless this IFRS
requires or permits measurement on another basis
such as cost or amortised cost.

See section 12

See section 12

2.49

Most non-financial assets that an entity initially
recognised at historical cost are subsequently
measured on other measurement bases. For
example:

(a) An entity measures property, plant and equipment
at the lower of depreciated cost and recoverable
amount.

(b) An entity measures inventories at the lower of cost
and selling price less costs to complete and sell.

(c) An entity recognises an impairment loss relating to
non-financial assets that are in use or held for sale.
Measurement of assets at those lower amounts is
intended to ensure that an asset is not measured at
an amount greater than the entity expects to recover
from the sale or use of that asset.

In relation to property, plant and equipment
see section 17
In relation to inventories see section 13

In relation to impairment losses see section
27

In relation to property, plant and
equipment see section 17
In relation to inventories see section 13

In relation to impairment losses see
section 27

2.50

For the following types of non-financial assets, this
IFRS permits or requires measurement at fair value:
(a) investments in associates and joint ventures that
an entity measures at fair value (see paragraphs
14.10 and 15.15 respectively).

See par. 14.10 and 15.15

As follows, measuring investments in
associates and joint ventures (when
these would otherwise be associates)at
fair value is in conflict with the Council
Directives.
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(b) investment property that an entity measures at fair
value (see paragraph 16.7).

(c) agricultural assets (biological assets and
agricultural produce at the point of harvest) that an
entity measures at fair value less estimated costs to
sell (see paragraph 34.2).

2.51 | Most liabilities other than financial liabilities are 4, art. 42 The Council Directives do not specify
measured at the best estimate of the amount that whether a ‘most likely outcome’ or an
would be required to settle the obligation at the Provisions may not exceed in amount the ‘expected value’ approach or something
reporting date. sums which are necessary. else should be used for measuring

recognised non-financial liabilities.
Accordingly, the requirement of par. 2.51
is assessed not to be incompatible with
the Council Directives.

2.52 | An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities, or 4. art. 7 Par. 2.52 is not in itself incompatible with

income and expenses, unless required or permitted
by this IFRS.

(a) Measuring assets net of valuation allowances—for
example, allowances for inventory obsolescence and
allowances for uncollectible receivables—is not
offsetting.

(b) If an entity’s normal operating activities do not
include buying and selling non-current assets,
including investments and operating assets, then the
entity reports gains and losses on disposal of such
assets by deducting from the proceeds on disposal
the carrying amount of the asset and related

selling expenses.

Any set-off between asset and liability items,
or between income and expenditure items,
shall be prohibited.

the Council Directives. However, if IFRS
for SMEs would require something to be
offset that would not be allowed under the
Council Directives and vice versa, this
would be incompatible with the Council
Directives. This is, however, not
assessed in relation to par. 2.52.

Financial Statement Presentation

3.1 This section explains fair presentation of financial Par. 3.1 only explains the scope of
statements, what compliance with the IFRS for SMEs section 3 and is accordingly not
requires, and what is a complete set of financial incompatible with the Council Directives.
statements.

3.2 Financial statements shall present fairly the financial 7. art. 16 (similar to 4. art. 2) The Council Directives do not require

position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions, other
events and conditions in accordance with the
definitions and recognition criteria for assets,
liabilities, income and expenses set out in Section 2

1. Consolidated accounts shall comprise the
consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated profit-and-loss account and the
notes on the accounts. These documents
shall constitute a composite whole. Member

presentation of cash flows. However,
they do not prohibit this either (see art.
16.1 of the Seventh Council Directive).
The concepts and pervasive principles of
section 2 were assessed not to be
incompatible with the Council Directives.
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Concepts and Pervasive Principles.

(a) The application of the IFRS for SMEs, with
additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to
result in financial statements that achieve a fair
presentation of the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of SMEs.

(b) As explained in paragraph 1.5, the application of
this IFRS by an entity with public accountability does
not result in a fair presentation in accordance with this
IFRS.

The additional disclosures referred to in (a) are
necessary when compliance with the specific
requirements in this IFRS is insufficient to enable
users to understand the effect of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the
entity’s financial position and financial performance.

States may permit or require the inclusion of
other statements in the consolidated
accounts in addition to the documents
referred to in the first subparagraph

2. Consolidated accounts shall be drawn up
clearly and in accordance with this Directive.

3. Consolidated accounts shall give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the
undertakings included therein taken as a
whole.

4. Where the application of the provisions of
this Directive would not be sufficient to give
a true and fair view within the meaning of
paragraph 3 above, additional information
must be given.

5. Where, in exceptional cases, the
application of a provision of Articles 17 to 35
and 39 is incompatible with the obligation
imposed in paragraph 3 above, that
provision must be departed from in order to
give a true and fair view within the meaning
of paragraph 3. Any such departure must be
disclosed in the notes on the accounts
together with an explanation of the reasons
for it and a statement of its effect on the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit
or loss. The Member States may define the
exceptional cases in question and lay down
the relevant special rules.

6. A Member State may require or permit the
disclosure in the consolidated accounts of
other information as well as that which must
be disclosed in accordance with this
Directive.

Accordingly, the fair presentation required
by the par. 3.2 would also be assessed
not to be incompatible with the Council
Directives.

3.3

An entity whose financial statements comply with the
IFRS for SMEs shall make an explicit and unreserved

The Council Directives do not include
requirements regarding statements about

The Council Directives do not prohibit an
entity from stating that its financial
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statement of such compliance in the notes. Financial
statements shall not be described as complying with
the IFRS for SMEs unless they comply with all the
requirements of this IFRS.

compliance with IFRS for SMEs

statements comply with the IFRS for
SMEs, when the requirements are met.
Accordingly, par. 3.3 is not incompatible
with the Council Directives.

3.4 In the extremely rare circumstances when 7.art. 16.5 The concepts and pervasive principles of
management concludes that compliance with this section 2 were generally assessed not to
IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict Where, in exceptional cases, the application | be incompatible with the Council
with the objective of financial statements of SMEs set | of a provision of Articles 17 to 35 and 39 is Directives. Accordingly, the fair
out in Section 2, the entity shall depart from that incompatible with the obligation imposed in presentation required by par. 3.4 would
requirement in the manner set out in paragraph 3.5 paragraph 3 above, that provision must be also be assessed not to be incompatible
unless the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departed from in order to give a true and fair | with the Council Directives.
such a departure. view within the meaning of paragraph 3. Any
such departure must be disclosed in the
notes on the accounts together with an
explanation of the reasons for it and a
statement of its effect on the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss.
The Member States may define the
exceptional cases in question and lay down
the relevant special rules.
3.5 When an entity departs from a requirement of this See above If a departure from IFRS for SME would
IFRS in accordance with paragraph 3.4, it shall also be a departure from the Council
disclose the following: Directives, an entity should also disclose
the effect of the departure on the assets,

(a) that management has concluded that the financial liabilities, financial position and profit or

statements present fairly the entity’s financial position, loss. However, this additional

financial performance and cash flows. requirement is only considered to be a
difference and does not result in par. 3.5

(b) that it has complied with the IFRS for SMEs, being incompatible with Council

except that it has departed from a particular Directives.

requirement to achieve a fair presentation.

(c) the nature of the departure, including the treatment

that the IFRS for SMEs would require, the reason why

that treatment would be so misleading in the

circumstances that it would conflict with the objective

of financial statements set out in Section 2, and the

treatment adopted.

3.6 When an entity has departed from a requirement of See above It is generally assessed that requirements

this IFRS in a prior period, and that departure affects
the amounts recognised in the financial statements for
the current period, it shall make the disclosures set

included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures cannot create any
incompatibility issues with the Council
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out in paragraph 3.5(c).

Directives.

3.7

In the extremely rare circumstances when
management concludes that compliance with a
requirement in this IFRS would be so misleading that
it would conflict with the objective of financial
statements of SMEs set out in Section 2, but the
relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure
from the requirement, the entity shall, to the maximum
extent possible, reduce the perceived misleading
aspects of compliance by disclosing the following:

(a) the nature of the requirement in this IFRS, and the
reason why management has concluded that
complying with that requirement is so misleading in
the circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of
financial statements set out in Section 2.

(b) for each period presented, the adjustments to
each item in the financial statements that
management has concluded would be necessary to
achieve a fair presentation.

The Council Directives would not prohibit
departures from the requirements included in
IFRS for SMEs when compliance with the
standard would be misleading (see above)

For the reasons stated in the previous
column, par. 3.7 is assessed not to be
incompatible with the Council Directives.

3.8

When preparing financial statements, the
management of an entity using this IFRS shall make
an assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern. An entity is a going concern unless
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so. In assessing whether the going concern
assumption is appropriate, management takes into
account all available information about the future,
which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months
from the reporting date.

4. art. 31.1

The Member States shall ensure that the
items shown in the annual accounts are
valued in accordance with the following
general principles:

(a) the company must be presumed to be
carrying on its business as a going concern;

It is assessed to be compatible with the
Council Directives to require the
management to assess the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

3.9

When management is aware, in making its
assessment, of material uncertainties related to
events or conditions that cast significant doubt upon
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the
entity shall disclose those uncertainties. When an
entity does not prepare financial statements on a
going concern basis, it shall disclose that fact,
together with the basis on which it prepared the
financial statements and the reason why the entity is
not regarded as a going concern.

4. art. 31.2

Departures from these general principles
shall be permitted in exceptional cases. Any
such departures must be disclosed in the
notes on the accounts and the reasons for
them given together with an assessment of
their effect on the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss.

The Council Directives would also require
an entity to disclose the effect of the
departure on the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss, if the
financial statements are not prepared
under the going concern assumption.
However, this additional requirement is
only considered to be a difference and
does not result in par. 3.9 being assessed
to be incompatible with the Council
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Directives.

It is generally assessed that requirements
included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures (including disclosures about
material uncertainties related to events or
conditions that cast significant doubt upon
the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern) cannot be incompatible with the
Council Directives.

3.10 | An entity shall present a complete set of financial No requirements included in the Fourth and It is generally assessed that requirements
statements (including comparative information—see Seventh Council Directives included in IFRS for SMEs about note
paragraph 3.14) at least annually. When the end of disclosures cannot be incompatible with
an entity’s reporting period changes and the annual the Council Directives.
financial statements are presented for a period longer
or shorter than one year, the entity shall disclose the
following:

(a) that fact.

(b) the reason for using a longer or shorter period.

(c) the fact that comparative amounts presented in the
financial statements (including the related notes) are
not entirely comparable.

3.11 | An entity shall retain the presentation and 4. art. 3 The cases mentioned in par. 3.11 could
classification of items in the financial statements from be regarded as ‘exceptional cases’ as
one period to the next unless: The layout of the balance sheet and of the mentioned in article 3 of the Fourth

profit and loss account, particularly as Council Directive. Accordingly, the
(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the | regards the form adopted for their paragraph is assessed not to be
nature of the entity’s operations or a review of its presentation, may not be changed from one | incompatible with the Council Directives
financial statements, that another presentation or financial year to the next. Departures from as IFRS for SMEs do not require more
classification would be more appropriate having this principle shall be permitted in changes than what would be allowed by
regard to the criteria for the selection and application exceptional cases. Any such departure must | the Council Directives.
of accounting policies in Section 10 Accounting be disclosed in the notes on the accounts
Policies, Estimates and Errors, or together with an explanation of the reasons
therefore.
(b) this IFRS requires a change in presentation.
3.12 | When the presentation or classification of items in the | 4. art. 4.4 Reclassifying comparative amounts is

financial statements is changed, an entity shall
reclassify comparative amounts unless the

In respect of each balance sheet and profit

compatible with option of the Council
Directives to do so. Also it is generally
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reclassification is impracticable. When comparative
amounts are reclassified, an entity shall disclose the
following:

(a) the nature of the reclassification.

(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is
reclassified.

(c) the reason for the reclassification.

and loss account item the figure relating to
the corresponding item for the preceding
financial year must be shown. The Member
States may provide that, where these figures
are not comparable, the figure for the
preceding financial year must be adjusted. In
any case, hon-comparability and any
adjustment of the figures must be disclosed
in the notes on the accounts, with relevant
comments.

assessed that requirements included in
IFRS for SMEs about note disclosures
cannot be incompatible with the Council
Directives.

3.13 | If it is impracticable to reclassify comparative See above Reclassification of comparative amounts
amounts, an entity shall disclose why reclassification is not required by the Council Directives,
was not practicable. and it is generally assessed that

requirements included in IFRS for SMEs
about note disclosures cannot be
incompatible with the Council Directives.

3.14 | Except when this IFRS permits or requires otherwise, | See above The Council Directives require
an entity shall disclose comparative information in comparative figures in relation to the
respect of the previous comparable period for all balance sheet and the profit and loss
amounts presented in the current period’s financial account but does not prohibit it in relation
statements. An entity shall include comparative to other information as well. Accordingly
information for narrative and descriptive information it is assessed that par. 3.14 is compatible
when it is relevant to an understanding of the current with the Council Directives.
period’s financial statements.

Exceptions to the requirement are
assessed in relation to the relevant
paragraphs.

3.15 | An entity shall present separately each material class | 4. art. 4.3 The Council Directives allow some

of similar items. An entity shall present separately
items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are
immaterial.

The balance sheet and profit and loss
account items that are preceded by Arabic
numerals may be, combined where:

(a) they are immaterial in amount for the
purposes of Article 2 (3); or

(b) such combination makes for greater
clarity, provided that the items so combined
are dealt with separately in the notes on the
accounts. Such combination may be
required by the Member States.

combination of items in the balance sheet
and profit and loss account (the Council
Directives do not include any
requirements for the cash flow statements
and the requirements of par. 3.15 can
therefore be applied in relation to the
cash flow statements without creating any
conflicts). The Council Directives may
limit the options to combine immaterial
classes. However, this is regarded as a
difference that could be overcome by
following the requirements of the Council
Directives in these circumstances.
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7. art. 16.2 (similar to 4. art. 2.2)

2. Consolidated accounts shall be drawn up
clearly and in accordance with this Directive.

3.16 | Omissions or misstatements of items are material if The Council Directives do not include an The explanation of ‘material’ in par. 3.16
they could, individually or collectively, influence the explanation of ‘material’ is in itself not in conflict with the Council
economic decisions of users made on the basis of the Directives as material is not defined in the
financial statements. Materiality depends on the size Council Directives.
and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in
the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature of
the item, or a combination of both, could be the
determining factor.

3.17 | A complete set of financial statements of an entity 4. art. 2 A statement of financial position is

shall include all of the following:

(a) a statement of financial position as at the reporting
date.

(b) either:

(i) a single statement of comprehensive income for
the reporting period displaying all items of income and
expense recognised during the period including those
items recognised in determining profit or loss (which
is a subtotal in the statement of comprehensive
income) and items of other comprehensive income, or
(ii) a separate income statement and a separate
statement of comprehensive income. If an entity
chooses to present both an income statement and a
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of
comprehensive income begins with profit or loss and
then displays the items of other comprehensive
income.

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the reporting
period.

(d) a statement of cash flows for the reporting period.

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

1. The annual accounts shall comprise the
balance sheet, the profit and loss account
and the notes on the accounts. These
documents shall constitute a composite
whole.

Member States may permit or require the
inclusion of other statements in the annual
accounts in addition to the documents
referred to in the first subparagraph.

4. art. 22

By way of derogation from Article 2(1),
Member States may permit or require all
companies, or any classes of company, to
present a statement of their performance
instead of the presentation of profit and loss
items in accordance with Articles 23 to 26,
provided that the information given is at least
equivalent to that otherwise required by
those Articles

7. art. 16

1. Consolidated accounts shall comprise the

another word for ‘balance sheet’ and
‘income statement’ the same as profit and
loss account. A single statement of
comprehensive income is considered to
be a statement of performance.
Accordingly, IFRS for SMEs requires all
the elements also required by the Council
Directives and some more, which is not
incompatible with the Council Directives.
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consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated profit-and-loss account and the
notes on the accounts. These documents
shall constitute a composite whole.

Member States may permit or require the
inclusion of other statements in the
consolidated accounts in addition to the
documents referred to in the first
subparagraph.

3.18

If the only changes to equity during the periods for
which financial statements are presented arise from
profit or loss, payment of dividends, corrections of
prior period errors, and changes in accounting policy,
the entity may present a single statement of income
and retained earnings in place of the statement of
comprehensive income and statement of changes in
equity (see paragraph 6.4).

4. art. 33.2

(a) Where paragraph 1 is applied, the
amount of the difference between valuation
by the method used and valuation in
accordance with the general rule laid down
in Article 32 must be entered in the
revaluation reserve under ‘Liabilities’.

The treatment of this item for taxation
purposes must be explained either in the
balance sheet or in the notes on the
accounts. For purposes of the application of
the last subparagraph of paragraph 1,
companies shall, whenever the amount of
the reserve has been changed in the course
of the financial year, publish in the notes on
the accounts inter alia a table showing:

— the amount of the revaluation reserve at
the beginning of the financial year,

— the revaluation differences transferred to
the revaluation reserve during the financial
year,

— the amounts capitalized or otherwise
transferred from the revaluation reserve
during the financial year, the nature of

any such transfer being diclosed,

— the amount of the revaluation reserve at
the end of the financial year.

4. art. 42d (d) / 7. art. 34.14 (d)

Where valuation at fair value of financial

The Council Directives do not require a
statement of changes in equity.
However, the Council Directives include
some requirements about disclosures
about changes in certain reserves.
These disclosures should be provided in
order to comply with the requirements of
the Council Directives. However, par.
3.18 does not result in a conflict with the
Council Directives.

In relation to statement of retained
earnings see section 6.
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instruments has been applied, the notes on
the accounts shall disclose:

(d) a table showing movements in the fair
value reserve during the financial year.

3.19 | If an entity has no items of other comprehensive The Council Directives do not require
income in any of the periods for which financial entities to present a statement of
statements are presented, it may present only an comprehensive income. It would be in
income statement, or it may present a statement of accordance with the Council Directives
comprehensive income in which the ‘bottom line’ is always to only present an income
labelled ‘profit or loss’. statement.

3.20 | Because paragraph 3.14 requires comparative 4. art. 4.4 Par. 3.20 is assessed to be in accordance
amounts in respect of the previous period for all with the Council Directives.
amounts presented in the financial statements, a In respect of each balance sheet and profit
complete set of financial statements means that an and loss account item the figure relating to
entity shall present, as a minimum, two of each of the | the corresponding item for the preceding
required financial statements and related notes. financial year must be shown. The Member

States may provide that, where these figures
are not comparable, the figure for the
preceding financial year must be adjusted. In
any case, hon-comparability and any
adjustment of the figures must be disclosed
in the notes on the accounts, with relevant
comments.

3.21 | In a complete set of financial statements, an entity No specific requirements included in the Par. 3.21 is assessed not to be
shall present each financial statement with equal Council Directives incompatible with the Council Directives.
prominence.

3.22 | An entity may use titles for the financial statements No specific requirements in the Council If an entity applies the terms of the
other than those used in this IFRS as long as they are | Directives. The Council Directives use the Council Directives this would be in
not misleading. terms ‘balance sheet’ and ‘profit and loss accordance with the Council Directives.

account’.

3.23 | An entity shall clearly identify each of the financial 7. art. 16.2 (similar to 4. art. 2.2) Par. 3.23 is assessed to be in line with

statements and the notes and distinguish them from
other information in the same document. In addition,
an entity shall display the following information
prominently, and repeat it when necessary for an
understanding of the information presented:

(a) the name of the reporting entity and any change in

2. Consolidated accounts shall be drawn up
clearly and in accordance with this Directive.

the Council Directives. The additional
information required by par. 3.23 is
assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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its name since the end of the preceding reporting
period.

(b) whether the financial statements cover the
individual entity or a group of entities.

(c) the date of the end of the reporting period and the
period covered by the financial statements.

(d) the presentation currency, as defined in Section
30 Foreign Currency Translation.

(e) the level of rounding, if any, used in presenting
amounts in the financial statements.

3.24 | An entity shall disclose the following in the notes: It is generally assessed that requirements
included in IFRS for SMEs about note
(a) the domicile and legal form of the entity, its disclosures cannot create any conflicts
country of incorporation and the address of its with the Council Directives.
registered office (or principal place of business, if
different from the registered office).
(b) a description of the nature of the entity’s
operations and its principal activities.
3.25 | This IFRS does not address presentation of segment | 4. art. 43.1 (8) The Council Directives do not include

information, earnings per share, or interim financial

reports by a small or medium-sized entity. An entity
making such disclosures shall describe the basis for
preparing and presenting the information.

In addition to the information required under
other provisions of this Directive, the notes

on the accounts must set out information in
respect of the following matters at least:

the net turnover within the meaning of Article
28, broken down by categories of activity
and into geographical markets in so far as,
taking account of the manner in which the
sale of products and the provision of
services falling within the company's
ordinary activities are organized, these
categories and markets differ substantially
from one another;

requirements regarding earnings per
share and interim financial report.
However, it is generally assessed that
requirements included in IFRS for SMEs
about note disclosures cannot create any
conflicts with the Council Directives.

The Council Directives requires segment
information about turnover. However, this
difference can be overcome by providing
this information in financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS for
SMEs as IFRS for SMEs does not
prohibit this information to be disclosed.

Statement of Financial Position

4.1

This section sets out the information that is to be
presented in a statement of financial position and how

Par. 4.1 only explains the scope of
section 4 and is accordingly not in conflict
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to present it. The statement of financial position
(sometimes called the balance sheet) presents an
entity’s assets, liabilities and equity as of a specific
date—the end of the reporting period.

with the Council Directives.

4.2

As a minimum, the statement of financial position
shall include line items that present the following
amounts:

(a) cash and cash equivalents.

(b) trade and other receivables.

(c) financial assets (excluding amounts shown under

(@), (b), () and (k)).
(d) inventories.
(e) property, plant and equipment.

(f) investment property carried at fair value through
profit or loss.

(g) intangible assets.

(h) biological assets carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment.

(i) biological assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss.

(j) investments in associates.
(k) investments in jointly controlled entities.
() trade and other payables.

(m) financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown
under (I) and (p)).

(n) liabilities and assets for current tax.

(o) deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets

4. art. 4

1. In the balance sheet and in the profit and
loss account the items prescribed in Articles
9, 10 and 23 to 26 must be shown
separately in the order indicated. A more
detailed subdivision of the items shall be
authorized provided that the layouts are
complied with. New items may be added
provided that their contents are not covered
by any of the items prescribed by the
layouts. Such subdivision or new items may
be required by the Member States.

2. The layout, nomenclature and terminology
of items in the balance sheet and profit and
loss account that are preceded by Arabic
numerals must be adapted where the special
nature of an undertaking so requires.

Such adaptations may be required by the
Member States of undertakings forming part
of a particular economic sector.

3. The balance sheet and profit and loss
account items that are preceded by Arabic
numerals may be, combined where:

(a) they are immaterial in amount for the
purposes of Article 2 (3); or

(b) such combination makes for greater
clarity, provided that the items so combined
are dealt with separately in the notes on the
accounts. Such combination may be
required by the Member States.

7.art. 21

It has been assessed that entities
applying IFRS for SMEs could use the
layout schemes presented in the Council
Directives in order to be able to comply
with the Council Directives.

In addition it has been assessed how an
entity could comply with the requirements
of the Council Directives art. 9 and the
requirements of par. 5.5.

It is assessed that:

(a) cash and cash equivalents could
correspond to IV Cash at bank and in
hand. As ‘cash’ is not defined in the
Council Directives, it is assessed that the
definition of cash and cash equivalents of
IFRS for SMEs can be applied.

(b) trade and other receivables could
correspond to Il Debtors (except that
subscribed capital called but not paid
cannot be included see par 22.7 and
prepayments and accrued income should
be shown separately in accordance with
the option included in the Council
Directives)

(c) financial assets are further specified
in the Council Directives than in IFRS for
SMEs, however, the amounts that would
correspond to (c ) financial assets can be
found in a balance sheet prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the
Council Directives

(d) inventories corresponds to (1) Stocks
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(these shall always be classified as non-current).
(p) provisions.

(q) non-controlling interest, presented within equity
separately from the equity attributable to the owners

of the parent.

(r) equity attributable to the owners of the parent.

The amount attributable to shares in
subsidiary undertakings included in the
consolidation held by persons other than the
undertakings included in the consolidation
shall be shown in the consolidated balance

sheet as a separate item with an appropriate

heading.
7. art. 33

1. Where an undertaking included in a
consolidation exercises a significant
influence over the operating and financial
policy of an undertaking not included in the
consolidation (an associated undertaking) in
which it holds a participating interest, as
defined in Article 17 of Directive
78/660/EEC, that participating interest shall
be shown in the consolidated balance sheet
as a separate item with an appropriate
heading. An undertaking shall be presumed
to exercise a significant influence over
another undertaking where it has 20 % or
more of the shareholders' or members'
voting rights in that undertaking. Article 2
shall apply.

in the Council Directives

(e) property plant and equipment
corresponds to (Il) Tangible assets in the
Council Directives

(f) investment property carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Investment
properties are not included in the layout
schemes included in the Council
Directives and the line item may thus be
included.

(g) intangible assets corresponds to (I)
Intangible assets in the Council
Directives.

(h) biological assets carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
are not included in the layout schemes
included in the Council Directives and the
line item may thus be included.

Further specification of the item in the
Council Directives: (3) Participating
interests would be necessary to meet the
requirement to present separate
amounts for (j) investments in associates
and (k) investments in jointly controlled
entities. It is assessed that such a
specification would be in line with article
4.1 (“A more detailed subdivision of the
items shall be authorized provided that
the layouts are complied with.”)

() trade and other payables are specified
in the Council Directives in (4) Trade
creditors and other accounts if necessary.

(m) financial liabilities (excluding amounts
shown under (l) and (p) are further
specified in the council directives.
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In order to present (n) liabilities and
assets for current tax, ‘tax’ in (8) Other
creditors including tax and social security
must be specified separately in
accordance with the Council Directives.
Likewise (4) Other debtors (or other
relevant line item) must be further
specified.

(o) deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets (these shall always be classified
as non-current). Deferred tax liabilities
are included in a separate section of the
balance sheet named provisions. A
separate line item must be included under
assets if a deferred tax asset exists.

(p) provisions corresponds to (3) ‘other
provisions’ in the Council Directives.

In addition to the requirements of article
21 of the Seventh Council Directives, a
subtotal should be included showing
equity attributable to the owners of the
parent.

4.3 An entity shall present additional line items, headings | 4. art. 4 Par 4.3 is assessed not to be
and subtotals in the statement of financial position incompatible with the Council Directives
when such presentation is relevant to an 1. In the balance sheet and in the profit and as long as the requirements of the
understanding of the entity’s financial position. loss account the items prescribed in Articles | Council Directives are met when adding
9, 10 and 23 to 26 must be shown line items, headings and subtotals.
separately in the order indicated. A more
detailed subdivision of the items shall be
authorized provided that the layouts are
complied with. New items may be added
provided that their contents are not covered
by any of the items prescribed by the
layouts. Such subdivision or new items may
be required by the Member States.
4.4 An entity shall present current and non-current 4. art. 20.1 The option/requirement to present the

assets, and current and non-current liabilities, as
separate classifications in its statement of financial

Provisions are intended to cover liabilities

items of the balance sheet based on
liquidity when this provides information

29




position in accordance with paragraphs 4.5-4.8,
except when a presentation based on liquidity
provides information that is reliable and more
relevant. When that exception applies, all assets and
liabilities shall be presented in order of approximate
liquidity (ascending or descending).

the nature of which is clearly defined and
which at the date of the balance sheet are
either likely to be incurred, or certain to be
incurred but uncertain as to amount or as to
the date on which they will arise.

that is reliable and more relevant cannot
be used when an entity is preparing
financial statements under the Council
Directives the option can be used by
entities within the scope of “Council
Directive on the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts of banks and other
financial institutions”. However, these
directives are not considered in this
analysis. It has been assessed that a
difference exists, as a presentation based
on liquidity could be said not to provide
information that is more reliable for
entities within the scope of the Fourth and
Seventh Council Directives. Accordingly,
entities within the scope of the Council
Directives cannot present a balance
sheet based on liquidity.

4.5

An entity shall classify an asset as current when:

(a) it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or
consume it, in the entity’s normal operating cycle;

(b) it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of
trading;

(c) it expects to realise the asset within twelve months
after the reporting date; or

(d) the asset is cash or a cash equivalent, unless it is
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date.

See above.

The Council Directives do not include a
definition of current assets and liabilities.
The Council Directives include a definition
of fixed assets.

It is noted that the Council Directives
define fixed assets, whereas IFRS for
SMEs defines current assets on a general
level. It has been considered whether
some items should be accounted for as
property plant and equipment under IFRS
for SMEs — but as something else (for
example inventory) under the Council
Directives. However, as the Council
Directives would allow a presentation
based on the current non-current
distinction (instead of the fixed/current
distinction), it is assessed that ‘non-
current’ is not the same as ‘fixed’ and
accordingly current is not what is not
‘fixed'. Instead, it is assessed that
distinction between current and non-
current can be based on IFRS for SMEs.
Accordingly it is assessed that par. 4.5 do
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not result in conflicts with the Council
Directives.

4.6

An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current.
When the entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly
identifiable, its duration is assumed to be twelve
months.

See above.

See above.

4.7

An entity shall classify a liability as current when:

(a) it expects to settle the liability in the entity’s normal
operating cycle;

(b) it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of
trading;

(c) the liability is due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting date; or

(d) the entity does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after reporting date.

See above.

See above.

4.8

An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-
current.

See above.

See above.

4.9

This IFRS does not prescribe the sequence or format
in which items are to be presented. Paragraph 4.2
simply provides a list of items that are sufficiently
different in nature or function to warrant separate
presentation in the statement of financial position. In
addition:

(a) line items are included when the size, nature or
function of an item or aggregation of similar items is
such that separate presentation is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position, and

(b) the descriptions used and the sequencing of items
or aggregation of similar items may be amended
according to the nature of the entity and its
transactions, to provide information that is relevant to
an understanding of the entity’s financial position.

As mentioned in relation to par. 4.2,
entities will have to follow the sequence
and other layout rules prescribed in the
Council Directives. However, par. 4.9 is
not assessed to create a conflict with the
Council Directives.

4.10

The judgement on whether additional items are
presented separately is based on an assessment of
all of the following:

(a) the amounts, nature and liquidity of assets.

(b) the function of assets within the entity.

As mentioned in relation to par. 4.2,
entities will have to follow the sequence
and other layout rules prescribed in the
Council Directives. The Council
Directives would allow further
specifications of items. Accordingly, par.
4.10 could be applied in this relation and
the paragraph would accordingly not
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(c) the amounts, nature and timing of liabilities.

create a conflict with the Council
Directives.

411

An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of
financial position or in the notes, the following
subclassifications of the line items presented:

(a) property, plant and equipment in classifications
appropriate to the entity.

(b) trade and other receivables showing separately
amounts due from related parties, amounts due from
other parties, and receivables arising from accrued
income not yet billed.

(c) inventories, showing separately amounts of
inventories:

(i) held for sale in the ordinary course of business.
(i) in the process of production for such sale.

(i) in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the
rendering of services.

(d) trade and other payables, showing separately
amounts payable to trade suppliers, payable to
related parties, deferred income and accruals.

(e) provisions for employee benefits and other
provisions.

(f) classes of equity, such as paid-in capital, share
premium, retained earnings and items of income and
expense that, as required by this IFRS, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
presented separately in equity.

If the requirements of par. 4.11 cannot be
met by following the provisions of the
Council Directives in relation to the lay-
out of the balance sheets, the disclosures
could be provided in the notes.

It is generally assessed that requirements
included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures cannot create any conflicts
with the Council Directives.

412

An entity with share capital shall disclose the
following, either in the statement of financial position
or in the notes:

(a) for each class of share capital:

(i) the number of shares authorised.

(i) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and
issued but not fully paid.

If the requirements of par. 4.12 cannot be
met by following the provisions of the
Council Directives in relation to the lay-
out of the balance sheets, the disclosures
could be provided in the notes.

It is generally assessed that requirements
included in IFRS for SMEs about note
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(i) par value per share, or that the shares have no
par value.

(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the
period.

(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to
that class including restrictions on the distribution of
dividends and the repayment of capital.

(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its
subsidiaries or associates.

(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and
contracts for the sale of shares, including the terms
and amounts.

(b) a description of each reserve within equity.

disclosures cannot create any conflicts
with the Council Directives.

4.13 | An entity without share capital, such as a partnership The Council Directives may not apply to
or trust, shall disclose information equivalent to that such an entity. However, when this is the
required by paragraph 4.12(a), showing changes case and the requirements of par. 4.13
during the period in each category of equity, and the cannot be met by following the provisions
rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each of the Council Directives in relation to the
category of equity. lay-out of the balance sheets, the

disclosures could be provided in the
notes.

It is generally assessed that requirements
included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures cannot create any conflicts
with the Council Directives.

4.14 | If, at the reporting date, an entity has a binding sale It is generally assessed that requirements

agreement for a major disposal of assets, or a group
of assets and liabilities, the entity shall disclose the
following information:

(a) a description of the asset(s) or the group of assets
and liabilities.

(b) a description of the facts and circumstances of the
sale or plan.

(c) the carrying amount of the assets or, if the
disposal involves a group of assets and liabilities, the
carrying amounts of those assets and liabilities.

included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures cannot create any conflicts
with the Council Directives.

33




Statement of Comprehensive Income and Income
Statement

51

This section requires an entity to present its total
comprehensive income for a period—ie its financial
performance for the period—in one or two financial
statements. It sets out the information that is to be
presented in those statements and how to present it.

Par. 5.1 only explains the scope of
section 5 and is accordingly not
incompatible with the Council Directives

5.2 An entity shall present its total comprehensive income | 4. art. 22 It is compatible with the Council
for a period either: Directives to present either a single
For the presentation of the profit and loss statement of comprehensive income or
(a) in a single statement of comprehensive income, in | account, the Member States shall prescribe | an income statement and a statement of
which case the statement of comprehensive income one or more of the layouts provided for in comprehensive income.
presents all items of income and expense recognised | Articles 23 to 26. If a Member State
in the period, or prescribes more than one layout, it may
allow companies to choose from among
(b) in two statements—an income statement and a them.
statement of comprehensive income—in which case
the income statement presents all items of income By way of derogation from Article 2(1),
and expense recognised in the period except those Member States may permit or require all
that are recognised in total comprehensive income companies, or any classes of company, to
outside of profit or loss as permitted or required by present a statement of their performance
this IFRS. instead of the presentation of profit and loss
items in accordance with Articles 23 to 26,
provided that the information given is at least
equivalent to that otherwise required by
those Articles.
7. art. 16 (similar to 4. art. 2)
1. Consolidated accounts shall comprise the
consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated profit-and-loss account and the
notes on the accounts. These documents
shall constitute a composite whole. Member
States may permit or require the inclusion of
other statements in the consolidated
accounts in addition to the documents
referred to in the first subparagraph
5.3 A change from the single-statement approach to the 4. art. 3 Section 10 of IFRS for SMEs includes

two-statement approach, or vice versa, is a change in
accounting policy to which Section 10 Accounting
Policies, Estimates and Errors applies.

The layout of the balance sheet and of the
profit and loss account, particularly as

some circumstances when an entity could
change accounting policies. These
circumstances can be considered
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regards the form adopted for their
presentation, may not be changed from one
financial year to the next. Departures from
this principle shall be permitted in
exceptional cases. Any such departure must
be disclosed in the notes on the accounts
together with an explanation of the reasons
therefore.

‘exceptional cases’. Also section 10
includes disclosure requirements that
would meet the requirements of article 3
of the Fourth Council Directive.

5.4

Under the single-statement approach, the statement
of comprehensive income shall include all items of
income and expense recognised in a period unless
this IFRS requires otherwise. This IFRS provides
different treatment for the following circumstances:

(a) The effects of corrections of errors and changes in
accounting policies are presented as retrospective
adjustments of prior periods rather than as part of
profit or loss in the period in which they arise (see
Section 10).

(b) Three types of other comprehensive income are
recognised as part of total comprehensive income,
outside of profit or loss, when they arise:

(i) some gains and losses arising on translating the
financial statements of a foreign operation (see
Section 30 Foreign Currency Translation).

(i) some actuarial gains and losses (see Section 28
Employee Benefits).

(iif) some changes in fair values of hedging
instruments (see Section 12 Other Financial
Instruments Issues).

4. art. 4

In respect of each balance sheet and profit
and loss account item the figure relating to
the corresponding item for the preceding
financial year must be shown. The Member
States may provide that, where these
figures are not comparable, the figure for the
preceding financial year must be adjusted. In
any case, hon-comparability and any
adjustment of the figures must be disclosed
in the notes on the accounts, with relevant
comments.

4. art. 36

By way of derogation from Article 35 (1) (c)
(cc), the Member States may allow
investment companies within the meaning of
Article 5 (2) to set off value adjustments to
investments directly against ‘Capital and
reserves’. The amounts in question must be
shown separately under ‘Liabilities’ in the
balance sheet.

4. art. 42¢

1. Notwithstanding Article 31(1)(c), where a
financial instrument is valued in accordance
with Article 42b, a change in the value shall
be included in the profit and loss account.
However, such a change shall be included

The Council Directives do not include
specific requirements in relation to the
effects of corrections of errors and
changes in accounting policies. It is
assessed that the requirements of par.
5.4 in this regard are not incompatible
with art. 4 of the Fourth Council Directive.

IFRS for SMEs requires that exchange
differences arising on monetary items that
forms part of a reporting entity’s net
investment in a foreign operation in the
financial statements that include the
foreign operation shall be recognised in
other comprehensive income and
reported as a component of equity. They
shall not again be recognsed in profit or
loss on disposal of the net investment.
(see par. 30.12)

It is noted that art. 42c of the Fourth
Council Directive requires that such
exchange differences shall be included in
a fair value reserve (even) when the
related financial instruments are
measured at fair value. The Council
Directives do not specify whether the fair
value reserve shall be recycled through
profit and loss when amounts shown
therein are no longer necessary.
Accordingly, it is assessed that it could
not be concluded to be incompatible with
the Council Directives not to recycle
these amounts.
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directly in equity, in a fair value reserve,
where:

(a) the instrument accounted for is a hedging
instrument under a system of hedge
accounting that allows some or all of the
change in value not to be shown in the profit
and loss account; or

(b) the change in value relates to an
exchange difference arising on a monetary
item that forms part of a company's net
investment in a foreign entity.

2. Member States may permit or require a
change in the value on an available for sale
financial asset, other than a derivative
financial instrument, to be included directly in
equity, in the fair value reserve.

4. art. 43

1. In addition to the information required
under other provisions of this Directive, the
notes on the accounts must set out
information in respect of the following
matters at least:

(1) the valuation methods applied to the
various items in the annual accounts, and
the methods employed in calculating the
value adjustments. For items included in the
annual accounts which are or were originally
expressed in foreign currency, the bases

of conversion used to express them in local
currency must be disclosed,;

IFRS for SMEs allows entities to
recognise some actuarial gains and
losses in other comprehensive income
(see par. 28.24). It could be questioned
whether this option could be in conflict
with the Council Directives. However the
option does in any case not result in an
incompatibility issue, as it is only an
option and it is assessed that the
alternative (to recognise actuarial gains
and losses in profit and loss is not in
conflict with the Council Directives).
Therefore it has not been assessed
whether the option is in conflict with the
Council Directives or not. Such an
analysis would require a thorough
analysis of how the concept of other
comprehensive income should be
understood in relation to the Council
Directives and such an analysis is not
within the scope of this comparison.

In relation to hedging see par. 12.19. As
the Council Directives require some
changes in fair value of hedges to be
included directly in equity, these
requirements are assessed not to be
incompatible with the Council Directives.

5.5

As a minimum, an entity shall include, in the

statement of comprehensive income, line items that

present the following amounts for the period:

(a) revenue.

4, art. 4

1. In the balance sheet and in the profit and
loss account the items prescribed in Articles
9, 10 and 23 to 26 must be shown
separately in the order indicated. A more

It has been assessed that entities
applying IFRS for SMEs should use the
layout schemes presented in the Council
Directives in order to be able to comply
with the Council Directives
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(b) finance costs.

(c) share of the profit or loss of investments in
associates (see Section 14 Investments in
Associates) and jointly controlled entities (see Section
15 Investments in Joint Ventures) accounted for using
the equity method.

(d) tax expense excluding tax allocated to items (e),
(g) and (h) below (see paragraph 29.27).

(e) a single amount comprising the total of (i) the post-
tax profit or loss of a discontinued operation, and

(ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the
disposal of the net assets constituting the
discontinued operation.

(f) profit or loss (if an entity has no items of other
comprehensive income, this line need not be
presented).

(g) each item of other comprehensive income (see
paragraph 5.4(b)) classified by nature (excluding
amounts in (h)).

(h) share of the other comprehensive income of
associates and jointly controlled entities accounted for
by the equity method.

(i) total comprehensive income (if an entity has no
items of other comprehensive income, it may use
another term for this line such as profit or loss).

detailed subdivision of the items shall be
authorized provided that the layouts are
complied with. New items may be added
provided that their contents are not covered
by any of the items prescribed by the
layouts. Such subdivision or new items may
be required by the Member States.

2. The layout, nomenclature and terminology
of items in the balance sheet and profit and
loss account that are preceded by Arabic
numerals must be adapted where the special
nature of an undertaking so requires.

Such adaptations may be required by the
Member States of undertakings forming part
of a particular economic sector.

3. The balance sheet and profit and loss
account items that are preceded by Arabic
numerals may be, combined where:

(a) they are immaterial in amount for the
purposes of Article 2 (3); or

(b) such combination makes for greater
clarity, provided that the items so combined
are dealt with separately in the notes on the
accounts. Such combination may be
required by the Member States.

4. art. 22

For the presentation of the profit and loss
account, the Member States shall prescribe
one or more of the layouts provided for in
Articles 23 to 26. If a Member State
prescribes more than one layout, it may
allow companies to choose from among
them.

By way of derogation from Article 2(1),
Member States may permit or require all
companies, or any classes of company, to
present a statement of their performance

In addition it has been assessed how to
comply with the requirements of the
Council Directives art. 23 (income
statement — expenses classified by
nature) and the requirements of par. 5.5.
It is assessed that:

(a) Revenue would correspond to 1.
Turnover

(b) finance cost would correspond to 13
Interest payable and similar charges, with
a separate indication of those concerning
affiliated undertakings.

(c) share of the profit.... would
correspond to (9) Income from
participating interests, with a separate
indication of that derived from affiliated
undertakings.

(d) tax expense excluding tax allocated to
items (e), (g) and (h) below would
correspond to the figure allowed in art. 30
of the Fourth Council Directive. In
relation to discontinued operations see
below:

In relation to (e) it has been assessed
whether it would be incompatible with the
Council Directives to present
discontinued operations as required by
IFRS for SMEs. It was noted that

The Fourth Council Directive art. 4.2
states that accounts that are preceded by
Arabic numerals must be adapted where
the special nature of an undertaking so
requires. If an entity has discontinued
operations this is special nature of the
undertaking that would require
amendments to the terminology. Also art.
4.1 allows new items to be added
provided that their contents are not
covered by any of the items prescribed by
the layouts. The result from discontinued
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instead of the presentation of profit and loss
items in accordance with Articles 23 to 26,
provided that the information given is at least
equivalent to that otherwise required by
those Atrticles.

4. art. 30

The Member States may permit taxes on the
profit or loss on ordinary activities and taxes
on the extraordinary profit or loss to be
shown in total as one item in the profit and
loss account before ‘Other taxes not shown
under the above items’. In that case, ‘Profit
or loss on ordinary activities after taxation’
shall be omitted from the layouts prescribed
in Articles 23 to 26. Where this derogation is
applied, companies must disclose in the
notes on the accounts the extent to which
the taxes on the profit or loss affect the profit
or loss on ordinary activities and the
‘Extraordinary profit or loss’.

operations and the related tax are not
covered by any other items and may
therefore be added.

5.6 An entity shall disclose separately the following items | 7. art. 23 The requirement in par. 5.6 (a) is in line
in the statement of comprehensive income as with art. 23 of the Seventh Council
allocations for the period: The amount of any profit or loss attributable | Directive. The Council Directives do not

to shares in subsidiary undertakings include any requirements related to par.
(a) profit or loss for the period attributable to included in the consolidation held by persons | 5.6. (b) — however, the Council Directives
(i) non-controlling interest. other than the undertakings included in the do not prohibit should a disclosure.
(i) owners of the parent. consolidation shall be shown in the
consolidated profit-and-loss account as a
(b) total comprehensive income for the period separate item with an appropriate heading.
attributable to
(i) non-controlling interest.
(i) owners of the parent.
5.7 Under the two-statement approach, the income See par. 5.5 See par. 5.5

statement shall display, as a minimum, line items that
present the amounts in paragraph 5.5(a)-5.5(f) for the
period, with profit or loss as the last line. The
statement of comprehensive income shall begin with
profit or loss as its first line and shall display, as a
minimum, line items that present the amounts in
paragraph 5.5(g)-5.5(i) and paragraph 5.6 for the

38




period.

5.8 Under this IFRS, the effects of corrections of errors 4. art. 4 The Council Directives do not include
and changes in accounting policies are presented as specific requirements in relation to the
retrospective adjustments of prior periods rather than | In respect of each balance sheet and profit effects of corrections of errors and
as part of profit or loss in the period in which they and loss account item the figure relating to changes in accounting policies. It is
arise (see Section 10). the corresponding item for the preceding assessed that the requirements of par.

financial year must be shown. The Member 5.8 are not incompatible with art. 4 of the
States may provide that, where these Fourth Council Directive.

figures are not comparable, the figure for the

preceding financial year must be adjusted. In

any case, non-comparability and any

adjustment of the figures must be disclosed

in the notes on the accounts, with relevant

comments.

5.9 An entity shall present additional line items, headings | 4. art. 4.1 Par 5.9 is assessed to be compatible with
and subtotals in the statement of comprehensive the Council Directives as long as the
income (and in the income statement, if presented), In the balance sheet and in the profit and requirements of the Council Directives
when such presentation is relevant to an loss account the items prescribed in Articles | are met when adding line items, headings
understanding of the entity’s financial performance. 9, 10 and 23 to 26 must be shown and subtotals.

separately in the order indicated. A more
detailed subdivision of the items shall be
authorized provided that the layouts are
complied with. New items may be added
provided that their contents are not covered
by any of the items prescribed by the
layouts. Such subdivision or new items may
be required by the Member States.

5.10 | An entity shall not present or describe any items of 4. art. 29.1 Par. 5.10 is not compatible with the
income and expense as ‘extraordinary items’ in the Council Directives as art. 29 of the Fourth
statement of comprehensive income (or in the 1. Income and charges that arise otherwise Council Directive requires certain items of
income statement, if presented) or in the notes. than in the course of the company's ordinary | income and expenses to be presented as

activities must be shown under Extraordinary | extraordinary items.
income and extraordinary charges’.
5.11 | An entity shall present an analysis of expenses using | The layout provided for in the Fourth Council | It is assessed that par. 5.11 is not in

a classification based on either the nature of
expenses or the function of expenses within the
entity, whichever provides information that is reliable
and more relevant.

Analysis by nature of expense

Directive art. 23 present an analysis of
expenses using a classification based on
nature. The layout provided for in the Fourth
Council Directive art. 25 present an analysis
of expenses using a classification based on
function of expenses. The layout includes
the separate item ‘cost of sales’.

conflict with the Council Directives.
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(a) Under this method of classification, expenses are
aggregated in the statement of comprehensive
income according to their nature (eg depreciation,
purchases of materials, transport costs, employee
benefits and advertising costs), and are not
reallocated among various functions within the entity.

Analysis by function of expense

(b) Under this method of classification, expenses are
aggregated according to their function as part of cost
of sales or, for example, the costs of distribution or
administrative activities. At a minimum, an entity
discloses its cost of sales under this method
separately from other expenses.

Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Income
and Retained Earnings

6

This section sets out requirements for presenting the
changes in an entity’s equity for a period, either in a
statement of changes in equity or, if specified
conditions are met and an entity chooses, in a
statement of income and retained earnings.

The statement of income and retained earnings
presents an entity’s profit or loss and changes in
retained earnings for a reporting period. Paragraph
3.18 permits an entity to present a statement of
income and retained earnings in place of a statement
of comprehensive income and a statement of
changes in equity if the only changes to its equity
during the periods for which financial statements are
presented arise from profit or loss, payment of
dividends, corrections of prior period errors, and
changes in accounting policy.

In addition to the information required by Section 5,
the statement of income and retained earnings
includes:

(a) retained earnings at the beginning of the reporting
period.
(b) dividends declared and paid or payable during the

4. art. 6

The Member States may authorize or require
adaptation of the layout of the balance sheet
and profit and loss account in order to
include the appropriation of profit or the
treatment of loss.

7. art. 16 (similar to 4. art. 2)

1. Consolidated accounts shall comprise the
consolidated balance sheet, the
consolidated profit-and-loss account and the
notes on the accounts. These documents
shall constitute a composite whole. Member
States may permit or require the inclusion of
other statements in the consolidated
accounts in addition to the documents
referred to in the first subparagraph

4. art. 22
For the presentation of the profit and loss

account, the Member States shall prescribe
one or more of the layouts provided for in

The Council Directives do not require an
entity to present a statement of Changes
in Equity. However, it is not prohibited
either.

The Council Directives allows entities to
present a statement of performance
instead of a profit a loss account. Itis
assessed that this could be interpreted as
a statement of comprehensive income.

In relation to what to include in the
statement of comprehensive income see
par. 5.4

See also par. 3.18.
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period.

(c) restatements of retained earnings for corrections
of prior period errors.

(d) restatements of retained earnings for changes in
accounting policy.

(e) retained earnings at the end of the reporting
period.

Articles 23 to 26. If a Member State
prescribes more than one layout, it may
allow companies to choose from among
them.

By way of derogation from Article 2(1),
Member States may permit or require all
companies, or any classes of company, to
present a statement of their performance
instead of the presentation of profit and loss
items in accordance with Articles 23 to 26,
provided that the information given is at least
equivalent to that otherwise required by
those Articles.

Statement of Cash Flows

7 Section 7 of IFRS for SMEs requires an entity to The Council Directives do not require entities | The Council Directives do not prohibit
present a statement of Cash Flows and describes the | to present a statement of cash flows entities from presenting a statement of
requirements to this statement and the related cash flows in accordance with IFRS for
disclosures SMEs

Notes to the Financial Statements

8 Section 8 of IFRS for SMEs sets out the principles 4. art. 2.2 It is generally assessed that requirements
underlying information that is to be presented in the included in IFRS for SMEs about note
notes to the financial statements and how to present They shall be drawn up clearly and in disclosures cannot create any conflicts
it. It requires disclosure of significant accounting accordance with the provisions of this with the Council Directives. Also, the
policies, information about judgements and Directive. requirements to include cross-references
estimations, together with other supporting and present the notes in a systematic
information for items shown in the primary financial manner seems to be in accordance with
statements. It also requires the notes to be presented the Council Directives
in a systematic manner and that each item in the
financial statements are cross-referenced to any
related in information in the notes.

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

9.1 This section defines the circumstances in which an Par. 9.1 only explains the scope of
entity presents consolidated financial statements and section 9 and is accordingly not
the procedures for preparing those statements. It also incompatible with the Council Directives
includes guidance on separate financial statements
and combined financial statements.

9.2 Except as permitted or required by paragraph 9.3, a 7.art. 4.1 It is assessed that par. 9.2 is not in

parent entity shall present consolidated financial
statements in which it consolidates its investments in
subsidiaries in accordance with this IFRS.
Consolidated financial statements shall include all

For the purposes of this Directive, a parent
undertaking and all of its subsidiary
undertakings shall be undertakings to be

conflict with the Council Directives.
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subsidiaries of the parent.

consolidated where either the parent
undertaking or one or more subsidiary
undertakings is established as one of the
following types of company:

(j) in the United Kingdom:

public companies limited by shares or by
guarantee, private companies limited by
shares or by guarantee;

The first subparagraph shall also apply
where either the parent undertaking

or one or more subsidiary undertakings is
constituted as one of the types of company
mentioned in Article 1 (1), second or third
subparagraph of Directive 78/660/EEC.

4. art. 1 (2) second subparagraph:

The coordination measures prescribed by
this Directive shall also apply to the Member
States' laws, regulations and administrative
provisions relating to the following types of
company:

() in the United Kingdom:
partnerships, limited partnerships, unlimited
companies;

4. art. 1 (2) third subparagraph:

where all members having unlimited liability
are companies of the types set out in the first
subparagraph or companies which are not
governed by the laws of a Member State but
which have a legal form comparable to those
referred to in Directive 68/151/EEC.

This Directive shall also apply to the types of
companies or firms referred to in the second
subparagraph where all members having

unlimited liability are themselves companies
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of the types set out in that or the first
subparagraph.

9.3

A parent need not present consolidated financial
statements if:

(a) both of the following conditions are met:

(i) the parent is itself a subsidiary, and

(ii) its ultimate parent (or any intermediate parent)
produces consolidated general purpose financial
statements that comply with full IFRSs or with this
IFRS; or

(b) it has no subsidiaries other than one that was
acquired with the intention of selling or disposing of it
within one year. A parent shall account for such

a subsidiary:

(i) at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss, if the fair value of the shares can be
measured reliably, or

(i) otherwise at cost less impairment (see paragraph
11.14(c)).

7.art. 7

1. Notwithstanding Articles 4 (2), 5 and 6, a
Member State shall exempt from the
obligation imposed in Article 1 (1) any parent
undertaking governed by its national law
which is also a subsidiary undertaking

if its own parent undertaking is governed by
the law of a Member State in the following
two cases:

(a) where that parent undertaking holds all of
the shares in the exempted undertaking. The
shares in that undertaking held by members
of its administrative, management or
supervisory bodies. pursuant to an obligation
in law or in the memorandum or articles

of association shall be ignored for this
purpose; or

(b) where that parent undertaking holds 90
% or more of the shares in the exempted
undertaking and the remaining shareholders
in or members of that undertaking have
approved the exemption.

2. Exemption shall be conditional upon
compliance with all of the following
conditions:

(a) the exempted undertaking and, without
prejudice to Articles 13 and 15, all of its
subsidiary undertakings must be
consolidated in the accounts of a larger body
of undertakings, the parent undertaking of
which is governed by the law of a Member
State;

(b) (aa) the consolidated accounts referred

Firstly, an entity can choose whether to
use the exemption of par. 9.3 or not.
Accordingly, any potential conflicts can be
overcome by not allowing entities
preparing financial statements in
accordance with IFRS for SMEs to use
the exemption. It is therefore assessed
that par. 9.3 is not incompatible with the
Council Directives.

However, in assessing any differences
between par. 9.3 and the Council
Directives it is assumed that all other
paragraphs of IFRS for SMEs are
compatible with the Council Directives.

The first exemption listed in par. 9.3
relates to a parent that is a subsidiary
itself. The Council Directives includes
more requirements than par. 9.3. (a).
These requirements depend on the actual
facts and circumstances. These
additional requirements must be fulfilled
before an entity (a parent that is also a
subsidiary) can be exempted from
preparing consolidated financial
statements.

In relation to par. 9.3 (b), article 13.3 (¢c)
of the Seventh Council Directive allows
an entity not to include subsidiaries in the
consolidation when the shares of that
subsidiary are held exclusively with a
view to their subsequent resale.
However, the Fourth Council Directive
does not allow entities to measure such a
subsidiary at fair value — as full IFRS
would require such subsidiaries to be
consolidated. In some cases, full IFRS
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to in (a) above and the consolidated annual
report of the larger body of undertakings
must be drawn up by the parent undertaking
of that body and audited, according to the
law of the Member State by which the parent
undertaking of that larger body of
undertakings is governed, in accordance
with this Directive;

(bb) the consolidated accounts referred to in
(a) above and the consolidated annual report
referred to in (aa) above, the report by the
person responsible for auditing those
accounts and, where appropriate, the
appendix referred to in Article 9 must be
published for the exempted undertaking in
the manner prescribed by the law of the
Member State governing that undertaking in
accordance with Article 38. That Member
State may require that those documents be
published in its official language and that the
translation be certified,;

(c) the notes on the annual accounts of the
exempted undertaking must

disclose:

(aa) the name and registered office of the
parent undertaking that draws up the
consolidated accounts referred to in (a)
above; and

(bb) the exemption from the obligation to
draw up consolidated accounts and a
consolidated annual report.

3. This Article shall not apply to companies
whose securities are admitted to trading on a
regulated market of any Member State

within the meaning of Article 1(13) of
Directive 93/22/EEC.

7.art. 8

1. In cases not covered by Article 7 (1), a

would require such subsidiaries to be
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.
However, IFRS 5 requires measurement
at the lowest of fair value and the carrying
amount — which is assessed not to be the
same as fair value.
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Member State may, without prejudice to
Articles 4 (2), 5 and 6, exempt from the
obligation imposed in Article 1 (1) any parent
undertaking governed by its national

law which is also a subsidiary undertaking,
the parent undertaking of which is governed
by the law of a Member State, provided that
all the conditions set out in Article 7 (2) are
fulfilled and that the shareholders in or
members of the exempted undertaking who
own a minimum proportion of the subscribed
capital of that undertaking have not
requested the preparation of consolidated
accounts at least six months before the end
of the financial year. The Member States
may fix that proportion at not more than 10
% for public limited liability companies

and for limited partnerships with share
capital, and at not more than 20 % for
undertakings of other types.

2. A Member State may not make it a
condition for this exemption that the parent
undertaking which prepared the consolidated
accounts described in Article 7 (2) (a) must
also be governed by its national law.

3. A Member State may not make exemption
subject to conditions concerning the
preparation and auditing of the consolidated
accounts referred to in Article 7 (2) (a).

7.art. 11

1. Without prejudice to Articles 4 (2), 5 and
6, a Member State may exempt from the
obligation imposed in Article 1 (1) any parent
undertaking governed by its national law
which is also a subsidiary undertaking

of a parent undertaking not governed by the
law of a Member State, if all of the following

45




conditions are fulfilled:

(a) the exempted undertaking and, without
prejudice to Articles 13 and 15, all of its
subsidiary undertakings must be
consolidated in the accounts of a larger body
of undertakings;

(b) the consolidated accounts referred to in
(a) above and, where appropriate, the
consolidated annual report must be drawn
up in accordance with this Directive or in a
manner equivalent to consolidated accounts
and consolidated annual reports drawn up in
accordance with this Directive;

(c) the consolidated accounts referred to in
(a) above must have been audited by one or
more persons authorized to audit accounts
under the national law governing the
undertaking which drew them up.

2. Articles 7 (2) (b) (bb) and (c) an 8 to 10
shall apply.

3. A Member State may provide for
exemptions under this Article only if it
provides for the same exemptions under
Articles 7 to 10.

7.art13.3(c)

In addition, an undertaking need not be
included in consolidated accounts where:
the shares of that undertaking are held
exclusively with a view to their subsequent
resale.

4. art. 32

The items shown in the annual accounts
shall be valued in accordance with Articles
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34 to 42, which are based on the principle of
purchase price or production cost.

4. art. 42a.1

By way of derogation from Article 32 and
subject to the conditions set out in
paragraphs 2 to 4 of this Article, Member
States shall permit or require in respect of all
companies or any classes of companies
valuation at fair value of financial
instruments, including derivatives.

Such permission or requirement may be
restricted to consolidated accounts as
defined in Directive 83/349/EEC.

4. art. 42a.4

Valuation according to paragraph 1 shall not
apply to:

(c) to interests in subsidiaries, associated
undertakings and joint ventures, equity
instruments issued by the company,
contracts for contingent consideration in a
business combination as well as other
financial instruments with such special
characteristics that the instruments,
according to what is generally accepted,
should be accounted for differently from
other financial instruments.

5a. By way of derogation from the provisions
of paragraphs 3 and 4, Member States may,
in accordance with international accounting
standards as adopted by Commission
Regulation (EC) No 1725/2003 of 29
September 2003 adopting certain
international accounting standards in
accordance with Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and
of the Council, as amended until 5
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September 2006, permit or require valuation
of financial instruments, together with the
associated disclosure requirements which
are provided for in international accounting
standards adopted in accordance with
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of
19 July 2002 on the application of
international accounting standards.

9.4 A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the In relation to consolidation requirements see | In relation to consolidation requirements
parent. Control is the power to govern the financial par. 9.5 see par. 9.5
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain In relation to SPEs see par. 9.10 — 9.12 In relation to SPEs see par. 9.10 — 9.12
benefits from its activities. If an entity has created a
special purpose entity (SPE) to accomplish a narrow It is assessed that the explanation of par.
and well-defined objective, the entity shall consolidate 9.4 is not in incompatible with the Council
the SPE when the substance of the relationship Directives
indicates that the SPE is controlled by that entity (see
paragraphs 9.10-9.12).

9.5 Control is presumed to exist when the parent owns, 7.art. 1 It is noted that it could be assessed

directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than
half of the voting power of an entity. That presumption
may be overcome in exceptional circumstances if it
can be clearly demonstrated that such ownership
does not constitute control. Control also exists when
the parent owns half or less of the voting power of an
entity but it has:

(a) power over more than half of the voting rights by
virtue of an agreement with other investors;

(b) power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the entity under a statute or an agreement;

(c) power to appoint or remove the majority of the
members of the board of directors or equivalent
governing body and control of the entity is by that
board or body; or

(d) power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of
the board of directors or equivalent governing body
and control of the entity is by that board or body.

A Member State shall require any
undertaking governed by its national law to
draw up consolidated accounts and a
consolidated annual report if that
undertaking (a parent undertaking):

(a) has a majority of the shareholders' or
members' voting rights in another
undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking); or

(b) has the right to appoint or remove a
majority of the members of the
administrative, management or supervisory
body of another undertaking (a subsidiary
undertaking) and is at the same time a
shareholder in or member of that
undertaking; or

(c) has the right to exercise a dominant
influence over an undertaking (a subsidiary
undertaking) of which it is a shareholder or
member, pursuant to a contract entered into

whether the Council Directives contrary to
IFRS for SMEs, would always require an
entity that holds the majority of the
shareholders’ or members’ voting rights in
another undertaking to consolidate that
undertaking.

However, IAS 27 of 2002 states (similarly
to par. 9.5 of IFRS for SMESs): “Control is
presumed to exist when the parent owns,
directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
more than one half of the voting power of
an enterprise unless, in exceptional
circumstances, it can be clearly
demonstrated that such ownership does
not constitute control.”

As Directive 2003/51/EC in its preamble
states: “the amendments will remove all
inconsistencies between Directives [...]
on the one hand and IAS in existence at 1
May 2002, on the other”, it has been
assessed that par. 9.5 cannot be said to
be incompatible with the Council
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with that undertaking or to a provision in its
memorandum or articles of association,
where the law governing that subsidiary
undertaking permits its being subject to such
contracts or provisions. A Member State
need not prescribe that a parent undertaking
must be a shareholder in or member of its
subsidiary undertaking. Those Member
States the laws of which do not provide for
each contracts or clauses shall not be
required to apply this provision; or

(d) is a shareholder in or member of an
undertaking, and:

(aa) a majority of the members of the
administrative, management or supervisory
bodies of that undertaking (a subsidiary
undertaking) who have held office during the
financial year, during the preceding financial
year and up to the time when the
consolidated accounts are drawn up, have
been appointed solely as a result of the
exercise of its voting rights; or

(bb) controls alone, pursuant to an
agreement with other shareholders in or
members of that undertaking (a subsidiary
under- taking), a majority of shareholders' or
members' voting rights in that undertaking.
The Member States may introduce more
detailed provisions concerning the form and
contents of such agreements.

The Member States shall prescribe at least
the arrangements referred to in (bb) above.

They may make the application of (aa)
above dependent upon the holding's
representing 20 % or more of the
shareholders' or members' voting rights.

However, (aa) above shall not apply where
another undertaking has the rights referred

Directives.
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to in subparagraphs (a), (b) or (c) above with
regard to that subsidiary undertaking.

2. Apart from the cases mentioned in
paragraph 1 the Member States may require
any undertaking governed by their national
law to draw up consolidated accounts and a
consolidated annual report if:

(a) that undertaking (a parent undertaking)
has the power to exercise, or actually
exercises, dominant influence or control over
another undertaking (the subsidiary
undertaking); or

(b) that undertaking (a parent undertaking)
and another undertaking (the subsidiary
undertaking) are managed on a unified basis
by the parent undertaking.

7. art. 13.3
In addition, an undertaking need not be
included in consolidated accounts where:

(a) severe long-term restrictions substantially
hinder:

(aa) the parent undertaking in the exercise of
its rights over the assets or management of
that undertaking; or

(bb) the exercise of unified management of
that undertaking where it is in one of the
relationships defined in Article 12 (1); or

(b) the information necessary for the
preparation of consolidated accounts in
accordance with this Directive cannot be
obtained without disproportionate expense
or undue delay; or

(c) the shares of that undertaking are held
exclusively with a view to
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their subsequent resale.

9.6 Control can also be achieved by having options or 7.art. 1.2 It has been discussed whether it would be
convertible instruments that are currently exercisable in conflict with the Council Directives to
or by having an agent with the ability to direct the Apart from the cases mentioned in take options and convertible instruments
activities for the benefit of the controlling entity. paragraph 1 the Member States may require | into consideration when determining

any undertaking governed by their national whether or not an entity would be

law to draw up consolidated accounts and a | controlled. It is noted that the Council

consolidated annual report if; Directives are silent on the issue and also
uses the word ‘right’ (right to) in many

(a) that undertaking (a parent undertaking) places where control is discussed. This

has the power to exercise, or actually seems to imply that also options and

exercises, dominant influence or control over | convertible instruments could be taken

another undertaking (the subsidiary into consideration when assessing

undertaking); or whether or not control exists.

9.7 A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation simply | The Council Directives includes options to The Council Directives list some cases
because the investor is a venture capital organisation | exempt financial holding companies (7. Art. where subsidiaries may be excluded from
or similar entity. 5) or in cases mentioned in 7. Art. 13 or 15). | consolidation — however, it is not required

that they are excluded from consolidation.
Accordingly, it is assessed that par. 9.7 is
not incompatible with the Council
Directives.

9.8 A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation The Council Directives includes options to The Council Directives lists some cases
because its business activities are dissimilar to those | exempt financial holding companies (7. Art. where subsidiaries may be excluded —
of the other entities within the consolidation. Relevant | 5) or in cases mentioned in 7. Art. 13 or 15). | however, it is not required that they are
information is provided by consolidating such excluded from consolidation. Accordingly,
subsidiaries and disclosing additional information in it is assessed that par. 9.8 is not
the consolidated financial statements about the incompatible with the Council Directives.
different business activities of subsidiaries.

9.9 A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation The Council Directives includes options to The Council Directives lists some cases
because it operates in a jurisdiction that imposes exempt financial holding companies (7. Art. where subsidiaries may be excluded —
restrictions on transferring cash or other assets out of | 5) or in cases mentioned in 7. Art. 13 or 15). | however, it is not required that they are
the jurisdiction. excluded from consolidation.

Accordingly, it is assessed that par. 9.9 is
not incompatible with the Council
Directives.

9.10 | An entity may be created to accomplish a narrow Par. 9.10 includes an explanation and no

objective (eg to effect a lease, undertake research
and development activities or securitise financial
assets). Such an SPE may take the form of a
corporation, trust, partnership or unincorporated
entity. Often, SPEs are created with legal
arrangements that impose strict requirements over

accounting requirements. Accordingly, it
is assessed that the paragraph cannot be
incompatible with the Council Directives.
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the operations of the SPE.

9.11 | An entity shall prepare consolidated financial 7.art. 1.2 As article 1.2 of the Seventh Council
statements that include the entity and any SPEs that Directive states that when a parent
are controlled by that entity. In addition to the Apart from the cases mentioned in undertaking has control over another
circumstances described in paragraph 9.5, the paragraph 1 the Member States may require | undertaking Member States may require
following circumstances may indicate that an entity any undertaking governed by their national this undertaking to be included in the
controls an SPE (this is not an exhaustive list): law to draw up consolidated accounts and a | consolidation. The list included in par.
(a) the activities of the SPE are being conducted on consolidated annual report if; 9.11 states when an entity controls an
behalf of the entity according to its specific business SPE and is assessed not to be
needs. (a) that undertaking (a parent undertaking) incompatible with the Council Directives.
(b) the entity has the ultimate decision-making powers | has the power to exercise, or actually
over the activities of the SPE even if the day-to-day exercises, dominant influence or control over
decisions have been delegated. another undertaking (the subsidiary
(c) the entity has rights to obtain the majority of the undertaking); or
benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to
risks incidental to the activities of the SPE. (b) that undertaking (a parent undertaking)
(d) the entity retains the majority of the residual or and another undertaking (the subsidiary
ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets. undertaking) are managed on a unified basis

by the parent undertaking.

9.12 | Paragraphs 9.10 and 9.11 do not apply to post- The requirements of section 28 are
employment benefit plans or other long-term assessed in section 28.
employee benefit plans to which Section 28 Employee
Benefits applies.

9.13 | The consolidated financial statements present 7. art. 19 The requirements of paragraph 9.13 are

financial information about the group as a single
economic entity. In preparing consolidated financial
statements, an entity shall:

(a) combine the financial statements of the parent and
its subsidiaries line by line by adding together like
items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses;

(b) eliminate the carrying amount of the parent’s
investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion
of equity of each subsidiary;

(c) measure and present non-controlling interest in
the profit or loss of consolidated subsidiaries for the
reporting period separately from the interest of the
owners of the parent; and

1. The book values of shares in the capital of
undertakings included in a consolidation
shall be set off against the proportion which
they represent of the capital and reserves of
those undertakings:

(b) A Member State may require or permit
set-offs on the basis of the values of
identifiable assets and liabilities as at the
date of acquisition of the shares or, in the
event of acquisition in two or more stages,
as at the date on which the undertaking
became a subsidiary.

7.art. 21

assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives
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(d) measure and present non-controlling interest in
the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries separately
from the parent shareholders’ equity in them. Non-
controlling interest in the net assets consists of:

(i) the amount of the non-controlling interest at the
date of the original combination calculated in
accordance with Section 19 Business Combinations
and Goodwill, and

(ii) the non-controlling interest’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination.

The amount attributable to shares in
subsidiary undertakings included in the
consolidation held by persons other than the
undertakings included in the consolidation
shall be shown in the consolidated balance
sheet as a separate item with an appropriate
heading.

7. art. 22

The income and expenditure of undertakings
included in a consolidation shall be
incorporated in full in the consolidated profit-
and-loss account.

7. art. 23

The amount of any profit or loss attributable
to shares in subsidiary undertakings

included in the consolidation held by persons
other than the undertakings included in the
consolidation shall be shown in the
consolidated profit-and-loss account as a
separate item with an appropriate heading.

7. art. 26

1. Consolidated accounts shall show the
assets, liabilities, financial positions and
profits or losses of the undertakings included
in a consolidation as if the latter were a
single undertaking.

9.14 | The proportions of profit or loss and changes in equity | No explicit requirements in the Council The requirements of paragraph 9.13 are
allocated to the owners of the parent and to the non- Directives assessed not to be incompatible with the
controlling interest are determined on the basis of Council Directives
existing ownership interests and do not reflect the
possible exercise or conversion of options or
convertible instruments.

9.15 | The financial statements of the parent and its 7. art. 27 The council directives do not include an

subsidiaries used in the preparation of the

‘impracticable’ exemption. Accordingly
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consolidated financial statements shall be prepared
as of the same reporting date unless it is
impracticable to do so.

1. Consolidated accounts must be drawn up
as at the same date as the annual accounts
of the parent undertaking.

2. A Member State may, however, require or
permit consolidated accounts to be drawn up
as at another date in order to take account
of the balance sheet dates of the largest
number or the most important of the
undertakings included in the consolidation.
Where use is made of this derogation that
fact shall be disclosed in the note on the
consolidated accounts together with the
reasons therefore. In addition, account

must be taken or disclosure made of
important events concerning the assets and
liabilities, the financial position or the profit or
loss of an undertaking included in a
consolidation which have occurred between
that undertaking's balance sheet date and
the consolidated balance sheet date.

that option is not available under the
Council Directives. However, it is difficult
to imagine how an entity could meet the
requirements of the Council Directives if it
is impracticable to do so. Accordingly,
the potential conflict is not considered to
be a conflict.

9.16 | The financial statements of the parent and its 3. Where an undertaking's balance sheet The requirements of paragraph 9.16 are
subsidiaries used in the preparation of the date precedes the consolidated balance assessed not to be incompatible with the
consolidated financial statements shall be prepared sheet date by more than three months, that Council Directives.
as of the same reporting date unless it is undertaking shall be consolidated on the
impracticable to do so. basis of interim accounts drawn up as at the

consolidated balance sheet date.
9.17 | Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared 7. art. 29 The requirements of paragraph 9.17 are

using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events and conditions in similar
circumstances. If a member of the group uses
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to its financial statements in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

1. Assets and liabilities to be included in
consolidated accounts shall be valued
according to uniform methods and in
accordance with Sections 7 and 7a and
Article 60 of Directive 78/660/EEC.

2. (a) An undertaking which draws up
consolidated accounts must apply the same
methods of valuation as in its annual
accounts. However, a Member State may
require or permit the use in consolidated
accounts of other methods of valuation in

assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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accordance with the abovementioned
Articles of Directive 78/660/EEC.

(b) Where use is made of this derogation
that fact shall be disclosed in the notes on
the consolidated accounts and the reasons
therefor given.

3. Where assets and liabilities to be included
in consolidated accounts have been valued
by undertakings included in the consolidation
by methods differing from those used for the
consolidation, they must be revalued in
accordance with the methods used for the
consolidation, unless the results of such
revaluation are not material for the purposes
of Article 16 (3). Departures from this
principle shall be permitted in exceptional
cases. Any such departures shall be
disclosed in the notes on the consolidated
accounts and the reasons for them given.

9.18

The income and expenses of a subsidiary are
included in the consolidated financial statements from
the acquisition date. The income and expenses of a
subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial
statements until the date on which the parent ceases
to control the subsidiary. The difference between the
proceeds from the disposal of the subsidiary and its
carrying amount as of the date of disposal, excluding
the cumulative amount of any exchange differences
that relate to a foreign subsidiary recognised in equity
in accordance with Section 30 Foreign Currency
Translation, is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (or the income
statement, if presented) as the gain or loss on the
disposal of the subsidiary.

No specific requirements included in the
Council Directives

The requirements of paragraph 9.18 are
assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.

9.19

If an entity ceases to be a subsidiary but the investor
(former parent) continues to hold an investment in the
former subsidiary, that investment shall be accounted
for as a financial asset in accordance with Section 11
Basic Financial Instruments or Section 12 Other
Financial Instruments Issues from the date the entity

It also seems to follow from the Council
Directives that an investment should be
accounted for as what it is.

The Council Directives do not include
specific requirements regarding the

The requirements of paragraph 9.19 are
assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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ceases to be a subsidiary, provided that it does not
become an associate (in which case Section

14 Investments in Associates applies) or a jointly
controlled entity (in which case Section 15
Investments in Joint Ventures applies). The carrying
amount of the investment at the date that the entity
ceases to be a subsidiary shall be regarded as the
cost on initial measurement of the financial asset.

calculation of cost of financial assets when
an entity ceases to be a subsidiary but
becomes another investment.

9.20 | An entity shall present non-controlling interest in the 7. art. 21 The requirement of paragraph 9.20 is
consolidated statement of financial position within assessed not to be incompatible with the
equity, separately from the equity of the owners of the | The amount attributable to shares in Council Directives
parent, as required by paragraph 4.2(q). subsidiary undertakings included in the

consolidation held by persons other than the
undertakings included in the consolidation
shall be shown in the consolidated balance
sheet as a separate item with an appropriate
heading.

9.21 | An entity shall disclose non-controlling interest in the 7. art. 23 The requirement of paragraph 9.21 is
profit or loss of the group separately in the statement assessed not to be incompatible with the
of comprehensive income, as required by paragraph The amount of any profit or loss attributable | Council Directives
5.6 (or in the income statement, if presented, as to shares in subsidiary undertakings
required by paragraph 5.7). included in the consolidation held by persons

other than the undertakings included in the
consolidation shall be shown in the
consolidated profit-and-loss account as a
separate item with an appropriate heading

9.22 | Profit or loss and each component of other No specific requirements included in the Par. 9.22 is assessed not to be
comprehensive income shall be attributed to the Council Directives incompatible with the Council Directives
owners of the parent and to the non-controlling
interest. Total comprehensive income shall be
attributed to the owners of the parent and to the
non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.

9.23 | The following disclosures shall be made in It is generally assessed that requirements

consolidated financial statements:

(a) the fact that the statements are consolidated
financial statements.

(b) the basis for concluding that control exists when
the parent does not own, directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power.

included in IFRS for SMEs about note
disclosures cannot be incompatible with
the Council Directives.
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(c) any difference in the reporting date of the financial
statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

(d) the nature and extent of any significant restrictions
(eg resulting from borrowing arrangements or
regulatory requirements) on the ability of subsidiaries
to transfer funds to the parent in the form of cash
dividends or to repay loans.

9.24 | Paragraph 9.2 requires a parent to present This issue relates to what entities should
consolidated financial statements. prepare separate financial statements.
This IFRS does not require presentation of separate Separate financial statements could be
financial statements for the parent entity or for the required without creating a conflict
individual subsidiaries. between IFRS for SMEs and the Council

Directives.

9.25 | The financial statements of an entity that does not The explanation of what is considered to
have a subsidiary are not separate financial be a separate financial statement is not
statements. Therefore, an entity that is not a parent by itself incompatible with the Council
but is an investor in an associate or has a venturer’s Directives.
interest in a joint venture presents its financial
statements in compliance with Section 14 or Section
15, as appropriate. It may also elect to present
separate financial statements.

9.26 | When a parent, an investor in an associate, or a 4. art. 32 Measurement of investments in

venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity
prepares separate financial statements and describes
them as conforming to the IFRS for SMEs, those
statements shall comply with all of the requirements
of this IFRS. The entity shall adopt a policy of
accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities either:

(a) at cost less impairment, or

(b) at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

The entity shall apply the same accounting policy for
all investments in a single class (subsidiaries,
associates or jointly controlled entities), but it can
elect different policies for different classes.

The items shown in the annual accounts
shall be valued in accordance with Articles
34 to 42, which are based on the principle of
purchase price or production cost.

4. art. 35, (c) (aa)

Value adjustments may be made in respect
of financial fixed assets, so that they are
valued at the lower figure to be attributed to
them at the balance sheet date.

4. art. 42a

By way of derogation from the provisions of
paragraphs 3 and 4, Member States may, in

associates and jointly controlled entities
at cost less impairment seems in
accordance with Fourth Council Directive
art. 32 and 35.

Measurement of investments in
associates and jointly controlled entities
at fair value with changes in fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss seems in accordance with
Fourth Council Directive art. 42a provided
the related disclosures of (full) IFRS are
provided.
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accordance with international accounting
standards as adopted by Commission
Regulation (EC) No 1725/2003 of 29
September 2003 adopting certain
international accounting standards in
accordance with Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and
of the Council, as amended until 5
September 2006, permit or require valuation
of financial instruments, together with the
associated disclosure requirements which
are provided for in international accounting
standards adopted in accordance with
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of
19 July 2002 on the application of
international accounting standards.

9.27 | When a parent, an investor in an associate, or a It is generally assessed that requirements
venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity included in IFRS for SMEs about note
prepares separate financial statements, those disclosures cannot be incompatible with
separate financial statements shall disclose: the Council Directives.

(a) that the statements are separate financial
statements, and

(b) a description of the methods used to account for
the investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates, and shall identify the
consolidated financial statements or other primary
financial statements to which they relate.

9.28 | Combined financial statements are a single set of Combined financial statements could be
financial statements of two or more entities controlled required without creating a conflict
by a single investor. This IFRS does not require between IFRS for SMEs and the Council
combined financial statements to be prepared. Directives.

9.29 | If the investor prepares combined financial statements | No requirements included in the Council It is assessed that the requirements of

and describes them as conforming to the IFRS for
SMEs, those statements shall comply with all of the
requirements of this IFRS. Intercompany transactions
and balances shall be eliminated; profits or losses
resulting from intercompany transactions that are
recognised in assets such as inventory and property,
plant and equipment shall be eliminated; the financial
statements of the entities included in the combined
financial statements shall be prepared as of the same

Directives as to what requirements should
be fulfilled in order to be in line with IFRS for
SMEs.

7. art. 26
1. Consolidated accounts shall show the

assets, liabilities, financial positions and
profits or losses of the undertakings included

par. 9.29 are in accordance with those of
art. 26 of the Seventh Council Directive.
Also, it is noted that par. 27.3 of the
Seventh Council Directive does not
prohibit entities to prepare the financial
statements of the entities as of the same
reporting date.
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reporting date unless it is impracticable to do so; and
uniform accounting policies shall be followed for like
transactions and other events in similar
circumstances.

in a consolidation as if the latter were a
single undertaking. In particular:

(a) debts and claims between the
undertakings included in a consolidation
shall be eliminated from the consolidated
accounts;

(b) income and expenditure relating to
transactions between the undertakings
included in a consolidation shall be
eliminated from the consolidated accounts;
(c) where profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the undertakings
included in a consolidation are included in
the book values of assets, they shall be
eliminated from the consolidated accounts.
Pending subsequent coordination, however,
a Member State may allow the eliminations
mentioned above to be effected in proportion
to the percentage of the capital held by the
parent undertaking in each of the subsidiary
undertakings included in the consolidation.

2. A Member State may permit derogations
from the provisions of paragraph 1 (c) above
where a transaction has been concluded
according to normal market conditions and
where the elimination of the profit or

loss would entail undue expense. Any such
derogations must be disclosed and where
the effect on the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the
undertakings, included in the consolidation,
taken as a whole, is material, that fact must
be disclosed in the notes on the
consolidated accounts.

3. Derogations from the provisions of
paragraph 1 (a), (b) or (c) above shall be
permitted where the amounts concerned are
not material for the purposes of Article 16

3).
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7. art. 27.3

Where an undertaking's balance sheet date
precedes the consolidated balance sheet
date by more than three months, that
undertaking shall be consolidated on the
basis of interim accounts drawn up as at the
consolidated balance sheet date.

9.30 | The combined financial statements shall disclose the It is generally assessed that requirements
following: included in IFRS for SMEs about note
(a) the fact that the financial statements are combined disclosures cannot be incompatible with
financial statements. the Council Directives.

(b) the reason why combined financial statements are
prepared.

(c) the basis for determining which entities are
included in the combined financial statements.

(d) the basis of preparation of the combined financial
statements.

(e) the related party disclosures required by Section
33 Related Party Disclosures.

Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors

10.1 | This section provides guidance for selecting and Par. 10.1 only explains the scope of
applying the accounting policies used in preparing section 10 and is accordingly not
financial statements. It also covers changes in incompatible with the Council Directives
accounting estimates and corrections of errors in prior
period financial statements.

10.2 | Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, | The Council Directives do not explain what The explanation by itself is not
conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity accounting policies are incompatible with the Council Directives.
in preparing and presenting financial statements.

10.3 | If this IFRS specifically addresses a transaction, other | The Council Directives do not include a It has generally been assessed that the
event or condition, an entity shall apply this IFRS. general exemption for immaterial Council Directives could be interpreted as
However, the entity need not follow a requirement in transactions and other events. including a materiality threshold. In any
this IFRS if the effect of doing so would not be case, the exemption to apply IFRS for
material. SMEs if the effect of doing so would not

be material is only an option. It would
neither be a violation of IFRS for SMEs
nor the Council Directives not to apply the
option.

10.4 | If this IFRS does not specifically address a 4. art. 2 (7 art. 16) It is assessed that the requirements in (a)

transaction, other event or condition, an entity’s
management shall use its judgement in developing
and applying an accounting policy that results in

2. They shall be drawn up clearly and in

- (b) of par. 10.4 are valid interpretations
of a true and fair view.
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information that is:

(a) relevant to the economic decision-making needs
of users, and

(b) reliable, in that the financial statements:

(i) represent faithfully the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the entity;

(i) reflect the economic substance of transactions,
other events and conditions, and not merely the legal
form;

(iii) are neutral, ie free from bias;

(iv) are prudent; and

(v) are complete in all material respects.

accordance with the provisions of this
Directive.

3. The annual accounts shall give a true and
fair view of the company's assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss.

In cases when IFRS for SMEs does not
specifically address a transaction, other
event or condition, an entity should first
consult the Council Directives. Only
when the Council Directives do not
specifically address the issue, (a) — (b)
should be applied. However, itis
assessed that the Council Directives most
likely would not address a transaction,
other event or condition that is not
covered by IFRS for SMEs.

10.5 | In making the judgement described in paragraph 10.4, | See above See above.
management shall refer to, and consider the
applicability of, the following sources in descending
order:

(a) the requirements and guidance in this IFRS
dealing with similar and related issues, and

(b) the definitions, recognition criteria and
measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income
and expenses and the pervasive principles in Section
2 Concepts and Pervasive Principles.

10.6 | In making the judgement described in paragraph 10.4, | See above The guidance of par. 10.6 can only be
management may also consider the requirements and applied if the requirements of full IFRS
guidance in full IFRSs dealing with similar and related are not in conflict with the Council
issues. Directives. However, as par. 10.6 is not a

requirement, it is not incompatible with
the Council Directives.

10.7 | An entity shall select and apply its accounting policies | 4. art. 31.1 (b) The Council Directives do not specifically

consistently for similar transactions, other events and
conditions, unless this IFRS specifically requires or
permits categorisation of items for which different
policies may be appropriate.

If this IFRS requires or permits such categorisation,
an appropriate accounting policy shall be selected
and applied consistently to each category.

the methods of valuation must be applied
consistently from one financial year to
another;

4. art. 33

The application of any such method, the
balance sheet and profit and loss account

include the requirement of par. 10.7. In
relation to revaluation and measurement
of inventory, the Council Directives
requires a consistent application.
However, the requirement of par. 10.7 is
assessed not to be incompatible with the
Council Directives.
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items concerned and the method by which
the values shown are calculated shall be
disclosed in the notes on the accounts.

4. art. 40

The Member States may permit the
purchase price or production cost of stocks
of goods of the same category and all
fungible items including investments to be
calculated either on the basis of weighted
average prices or by the ‘first in, first out’
(FIFO) method, the ‘last in, first out’ (LIFO)
method, or some similar method.

10.8 | An entity shall change an accounting policy only if the | 4. art. 31 The circumstances listed in par. 10.8
change: could be considered as ‘exceptional
(a) is required by changes to this IFRS, or 2. Departures from these general principles cases’ whereby par. 10.8 would be in
(b) results in the financial statements providing shall be permitted in exceptional cases. Any | accordance with the Council Directives.
reliable and more relevant information about the such departures must be disclosed in the
effects of transactions, other events or conditions on notes on the accounts and the reasons for
the entity’s financial position, financial performance or | them given together with an assessment of
cash flows. their effect on the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss.
10.9 | The following are not changes in accounting policies: | The Council Directives do not specify a Par. 10.9 is assessed not to be
change in accounting policy. incompatible with the Council Directives.
(a) the application of an accounting policy for
transactions, other events or conditions that differ in
substance from those previously occurring.
(b) the application of a new accounting policy for
transactions, other events or conditions that did no